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Highlights
Revenue

£3.6 million
Gross Profit

£1.8 million
Wind projects constructed

41.3MW
Biomass Projects Constructed

6MW
Generation output

34.6GWh
Increase in Generation Output

237%
Pipeline of Projects

Over 5GW

Cert no. SA-COC-001900

Printed on revive 100 uncoated paper. This paper 
is made from 100% de-linked post consumer 
waste. It has been certified according to the rules 
of the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and it is 
produced at the mill that is certified to ISO 14001 
environmental management standards. The mill 
uses pulps that are an elemental chlorine free (ECF) 
process and the inks used are all vegetable oil 
based
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Chairman’s Statement

Overview
Our business performed well in this 
financial year despite challenging 
global conditions. We built five wind 
farms over the period adding an 
additional 40MW of renewable energy 
production to our portfolio and we 
refinanced our first four wind projects 
in Canada against a backdrop of the 
most difficult conditions experienced 
in financial markets in a generation. 

Renewable Energy Moves 
to Mainstream
Our third year witnessed 
unprecedented growth in global 
sustainable energy investment – up 
60% on the previous year to almost 
$150 billion.  Record oil and gas 
prices and robust policy initiatives 
to combat climate change were 
strong drivers for sustainable energy 
projects, which accounted for 23% 
of all new power generation capacity 
added worldwide during the year.  

Wind power remained the dominant 
sector, and contributed more new 
generating capacity in Europe 
than any other power source.  The 
International Energy Agency, in its 
2008 Review of Energy Technologies, 
revised its view of prospects for 
renewables upwards predicting “a 
massive switch to renewable energy 
for power generation providing up to 
46% of global power by 2050”.  The 
Agency also foresees a significant 
role for bio-fuels, especially in the 
transport sector, notwithstanding the 
“food-for-fuel” concerns prompted 
by the impact of various input costs 
on the rising price of food.  Mergers 
and acquisitions in clean energy 
companies grew in value by 50% as 
the long anticipated consolidation 
of the sector hastened the transfer, 
particularly of wind assets, from 
developers to utility ownership.  The 
global credit crunch is expected 
to support this trend, with equity-
based acquisitions being 
driven by power utility 
companies anxious to 
hedge against rising 
fossil fuel costs and 
increasingly onerous 
climate change 
legislation.

Strategy
Our strategy for capturing value 
in the booming renewable energy 
sector remains one of exploiting 
niche opportunities in markets where 
we can gain advantage from our 
small in-house team of experienced 
renewables professionals.  We 
consider our competitive advantages 
to be the strength of our expertise 
when compared to other renewables 
developers of a similar size and a 
greater level of entrepreneurial agility 
than the larger utilities.  Our aim 

remains to extract value throughout 
the investment chain by building, 
owning and operating mainly wind 
power assets.  However, we will 
continue to acquire, develop and 
dispose of renewables businesses 
opportunistically where our expertise 
can enhance their value and position 
them for development by larger 
players.

The UK’s onshore wind market 
has become the most attractive 
opportunity in our portfolio.  We 
expect that the high wholesale 
power prices driven by increasing 
fossil-fuel costs will be supported by 
deteriorating power plant capacity 
margins.  Combined with attractive 
incentives for developers to deliver 
the Government’s ambitious 
renewable energy programme for 
strategic security, affordability and 
environmental sustainability, these 
conditions make the UK a priority 

market for our investments.  Most 
crucially, this year we have begun 
to see real progress by the UK 
Government in tackling the biggest 
obstacle to renewable energy 
development in the UK – the planning 
process.  The policy projection 
declared during the summer which 
amounts to a seven-fold increase 
in onshore wind capacity will, we 
believe, remove some of the planning 
bottlenecks that have historically 
frustrated the harvesting of the 

“Our business performed 
well in 2007/8 despite 

very challenging global 
conditions generally.”
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Chairman’s Statement

UK’s exceptional wind resource.  
Recently, as previously announced, 
REG has been granted planning 
approval at Goonhilly and Loscar. 
Furthermore the impact of skill 
shortages and financing difficulties 
will present opportunities for REG to 
acquire under-resourced, early-stage 
schemes as the sector expands.

In tandem with this, our Canadian 
operations have developed more 
rapidly than envisaged at the 
beginning of the year and our 
Canadian subsidiary, AIM PowerGen 
Corporation, now has a development 
pipeline of 5,500MW spread across 
seven provinces of Canada.  In 
addition to the development of 
renewable energy initiatives, 
underlying demand for renewable 
energy projects is also growing 
principally as a result of more 
onerous environmental requirements 
and high fossil fuels prices.

Having regard to the capital costs 
of building out this platform 
we continue to explore ways to 
maximise shareholder value from 
our development portfolio.  The 
Board is also considering strategic 
options with regard to domiciliation 
and transition from closed-ended 
investment fund status to an 
operating company. 

Future Developments
Although our focus remains on 
wind power, our aim is to diversify 
our technology portfolio where 
opportunities arising in emerging 
applications coincide with strong 
policy support and lie within our 
skill sets.  In 2007, we identified a 
rapidly emerging market for small-
scale power and combined heat and 
power plants, fuelled by used cooking 

oil (“UCO”).  Sympathetic planning 
processes, anticipated strengthening 
of incentives, merchant and county 
council/local authority power 
purchasing structures and a strong 
drive for the responsible disposal 
of waste vegetable oils combined 
with short project lead times and 
high asset utilisation levels, provide 
the prospect of attractive cash flow 
from this application.  We built the 
6MW Bentwaters project this year to 
prove the concept and it is currently 
trialling a variety of vegetable oil 
fuels in consultation with the UK’s 
Environment Agency, ahead of the 
planned roll-out of further identified 
projects in the next 12 months.

As in our wind business, we see 
value in vertical integration to avoid 
margin dilution by intermediaries 
and we recently acquired the UCO 
collection and refining business 
that we have worked with since the 
outset.  We have already secured 
collection contracts with government 
authorities, major food chains and 
water companies and have identified 
many bio-fuels markets for our 
“LF100” product beyond that of our 
UCO-fuelled electricity generating 
business.

People
The granting of planning at Loscar 
and Goonhilly was a tremendous 
achievement for the UK team and I 
hope to be able to announce further 
projects wins over the next twelve 
months.  

Dividend
The construction of five wind projects 
this year has added materially to 
our revenues and with Goonhilly and 
Loscar expected to become fully 

operational next year we believe that 
it is appropriate to continue with 
the payment of the current level of 
our dividend. The Board is therefore 
recommending a final dividend of 3p, 
making a full year dividend of 4p per 
ordinary share. We are committed 
to growing our dividend and, as I 
emphasised last year, we are waiting 
to see the outcome of our capital 
investment programme before 
committing to an increase. 

Summary
The pace at which the renewable 
energy sector is evolving presents 
opportunities and threats for which 
adaptability is a vital response.  
Having established the Company 
as a well capitalised organisation 
with a permanent establishment of 
professionals skilled in all facets 
of the sector, the Board is able to 
manoeuvre confidently in a rapidly 
changing business environment.  In 
acknowledging the huge contribution 
made by our people again this year, I 
wish particularly to record the Board’s 
gratitude for the talents of Stephen 
Probyn, who died during the year.  As 
a leading figure in North America’s 
energy sector, Stephen was 
invaluable during our early transition 
from a managed investment fund to 
an operating company with its own 
intellectual resource.

Mike Liston 
Chairman 
30 December 2008
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Strategy and key goals
The Group’s core business is to 
generate renewable energy in a 
reliable and sustainable manner. 
To facilitate this goal our strategy 
is to focus on investment in 
energy projects that contribute 
to sustainable energy targets, 
while providing a sound long 
term return to shareholders. The 
Group’s strategy is founded upon 
the effective management of its 
operating businesses, sound analysis 
of potential investments and the 
continued maintenance of a strong 
balance sheet. 

Overview 
The past year has been one of 
continued good progress for the 
Group across all business fronts.

In the UK we completed the 
construction of the Roskrow Barton 
Wind Farm (1.7MW) in Cornwall and 
initiated construction at Whittlesey 
(1.8MW) and Ramsay (1.8MW) in 
Cambridgeshire.  Shortly after the 
end of the period, we announced the 
granting of planning permission at 
Loscar (approx 3.9MW) in Yorkshire 
and for the repowering of the existing 
Goonhilly Downs Wind Project in 
Cornwall (approx 12-15MW).

Additionally, we have built and 
commissioned our first used cooking 
oil (“UCO”) plant at Bentwaters 
in Suffolk.  This innovative 6MW 

project should benefit from the 
anticipated enhanced Renewable 
Obligation Certificate (“ROC”) banding 
expected to be introduced by the UK 
Government in April 2009.

We are encouraged by the UK 
Government’s support for the 
renewables industry, reflected in 
its White Paper published earlier 
this year and endorsed by the 
announcement in May of the UK 
Renewable Energy Strategy Report, 
which details plans to increase 
onshore wind production to 14GW 
by 2020 (currently 2GW).  In 
addition, its objective is to address 
the bottlenecks at the local 
community and Ministry of Defence 
consent levels.  We hope that the 
planning regime in the UK may now 
become more supportive of central 
Government targets for renewables 
and our experience over the last few 
months certainly supports this trend.  
Both Goonhilly and Loscar were 
referred for consideration by central 
Government regional offices as they 
are in protected areas (Goonhilly 
being in an ‘Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty’ and Loscar being in 
a ‘Green Belt’).  In both cases, it was 
quickly determined that the projects 
could proceed.

At the same time as bringing new 
projects to our generating 
portfolio, we have further 
expanded our development 
pipeline in both the UK 
and Canada, which is 
now capable of delivering 
sustained growth.

In Canada, through 
our Canadian subsidiary, AIM 
PowerGen Inc., we have built four 
wind projects totalling almost 
40MW and have ordered turbines 
for a further seven projects totalling 
65MW.  The forthcoming Requests 
For Proposals in Ontario and other 
initiatives in Alberta, Saskatchewan 
and Newfoundland have led to the 
opportunity developing more quickly 
than we envisaged at the start of the 
year.  With further land options signed 
over the last year, AIM PowerGen 
now has a development pipeline 
of 5,500MW spread across seven 
provinces of Canada.  In addition to 
the ongoing expansion of renewable 

energy policy support, underlying 
demand for renewable energy is also 
growing as a result of more onerous 
environmental protection measures 
and concerns about energy security 
and fossil fuels prices.

Financial Highlights
Group revenue was up 247% to 
£3.6m with gross profits of £1.8m, 
up 238% on the prior year, driven by 
the increased output from UK wind 
farms. 

Discontinued activities, being 
the Group’s Financial Investment 
Management division, contributed a 
net loss of £0.5m following the sale 
of its major asset, the Tymien Wind 
farm in Poland and the purchase of 
its fund management company, REG 
Power Management Limited.

The Group’s loss after tax for the year 
from continuing activities was £3.6m 
(2007 - £1.3m) after accounting 
for fair value expense on financial 
derivatives of £0.6m (2007 -£nil)

The Group invested over £48m in 
capital expenditure during the year, 
completing one wind farm in the UK 
and 4 wind farms in Canada, adding 
41.3MW to our portfolio of wind 
farms.

During the year, the Group negotiated 
a £30m debt facility with its UK 
bankers which has provided ample 
flexibility in managing our financial 
liquidity.  Furthermore, in June 2008 
we successfully refinanced our four 
Canadian projects which released 
Cdn$33m on the connection of the 
first two projects in June 2008 and 
has released a further Cdn$42m on 
connection of the second two projects 
after the year end.  The release of 
up to Cdn$75 million of cash to the 
Group will be used for re-investment 
in our pipeline of projects.

Group revenue was up 
247% to £3.6m with gross 
profits of £1.8m, up 238% 

on the prior year
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UK

Wind Generation 
During the year ended June 2008, 
wind generation output increased 
from 14.6GWh to 34.6GWh, an 
increase of 237% over last year.  The 
main reasons for the increase were 
a full year of operations from High 
Sharpley and High Pow, along with 
the commissioning of the Braich 
Ddu wind farm in Wales (3.9MW) in 
September and the completion and 
commissioning of the Roskrow Barton 
wind farm (1.7MW) in Cornwall in 
January 2008.  

Our policy is to sell the green 
electricity we produce under relatively 
short term contracts, retaining the 
ROCs associated with the production 
of green electricity in the UK. These 
are then sold on an opportunistic 
basis.

Shortly after the year end we took 
advantage of the continued rise in 
electricity prices to fix the electrical 
output from all of our UK wind farms 
until March 2011. Together with 
the ROCs, our total selling price 
achieved from March 2009 to March 
2011 should be in the region of 
£135/MWh, crystallising a material 
improvement on historic prices and is 
expected to add significantly to future 
earnings.

Our newly commissioned wind project 
at Roskrow Barton in Cornwall was 
built on schedule and to budget.  
Standing above Falmouth, the two 
Vestas V52 turbines will make a 
strong contribution to Cornwall’s 
overall green electricity targets and 
are already being used as a teaching 
aid for the popular Renewable Energy 
degree course at the University 
located half a mile away.  

Our two new wind farms at Whittlesey 
and Ramsay are now operational.  
Each project consists of one Vestas 
V90 1.8MW turbine and we have 
forward sold the output from these 
projects to March 2011 as above.  

Projects in Planning
Shortly after the end of the financial 
year, we announced that our three 
turbine Loscar project in Yorkshire 
and the repowering of our existing 

project at Goonhilly Downs in 
Cornwall had both gained planning 
approval.  Once built, these projects 
will increase our UK operating wind 
capacity to around 35MW.

We have several other wind projects 
approaching the point at which 
they will be determined by planning 
committees and our Beechtree 
Farm and Orchard End projects 
are moving to public appeal.  Both 
received recommendations for 
approval from their respective local 
planning inspectors at the initial 
planning committee stage and we 
are optimistic that one, or both, may 
succeed at appeal.

In June we announced our intention 
to submit a proposal for three state 
of the art Vestas V90 3MW turbines 
at Cheverton Down on the Isle of 
Wight.  The site already has planning 
for three smaller machines but if the 
application for larger machines is 
accepted the project should make 
a very considerable contribution 
to the Island’s overall renewables 
targets.  In addition it will provide 
Vestas, the global market leading 
turbine manufacturer, with an ongoing 
monitoring site close to one of its 
four global research and development 
centres. 

We have added to our UK 
development team over the period 
to increase our capacity to initiate, 
develop and build wind projects.  
With the UK Government’s legislative 
regime supporting strong renewable 
energy growth until at least 2027 we 
believe that the UK is a very exciting 
market for us and suits our approach.  

Our people, methods and contacts 
are well suited to a period of organic 
growth and partnering with less well 
capitalised developers.

Vegetable Oil to Power
In common with our approach to 
the wind market, we have chosen 
to enter the vegetable-oil-to-power 
market through the acquisition of 
Living Power Ltd, an established 
producer of power from used cooking 
oil (UCO).  Living Power is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of REG Bio-Power 
(UK) Limited which is a REG 90% 
subsidiary.

We chose to invest in this sub-sector 
because the UK’s ROC-driven market 
structure encourages innovative 
means of generating electricity 
from a diverse range of genuinely 
renewable sources.  UCO qualifies 
as it uses vegetable oil which is no 
longer suitable as a heat-transfer 
medium to generate electricity.  It 
uses food-grade oil also used for 
bio-diesel production, which has 
elevated in value in the past year.  In 
addition there are non-food-grade 
oils (Straight Vegetable Oils or SVOs) 
produced worldwide that are suitable 
for power production.  REG is testing 
sources of non-food grade oil which 
occur naturally and do not affect 
food production.  REG believes that 
it is particularly well placed to utilise 
a number of these oils which can 
continue to be produced sustainably 
over a number of years and will 
provide diversity of fuel options in the 
future.

REG has consequently been 
undertaking a programme of 
development which will allow it to 
consider a range of oils for power 
production in the UK.  Living Fuels 
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of REG Bio-Power (UK) Limited, has 
a transport-use licence with HM 
Revenue & Customs for its refined 
UCO (branded ‘LF100’) which already 
powers a range of vehicles.  The 
fuel, which has patents applied for, 
also has testing rights for power 
production from the UK Environment 
Agency (EA), which is in the process 
of reducing restrictions on waste oils 
suitable for power generation.  

In the meantime, Living Fuels is 
restricting its market to biodiesel 
and Living Power plants rated less 
than 150kW electrical output, which 
are exempt from legacy EA rules.  
REG believes that this conservative 
approach will help expedite the EA’s 
revision of its regulations and in 
anticipation of a favourable outcome.

REG believes that there is an 
attractive opportunity in this market 
and is actively building a body of 
expertise.  The Bentwaters plant, 
commissioned in August is central to 
this and REG is well placed to benefit 
from its commercial and regulatory 
advantages when ROC banding is 
introduced in April 2009.  



Business O
verview

For the year ended 30 June 2008

7

Chief Executive’s Statement

Canada

Construction projects
Over the last twelve months our 
Canadian team has constructed 
four wind projects under the Ontario 
Standard Offer Programme (“SOP”) 
all of which are now fully operational.  
The four projects each produce 
9.9MW of power and all use Vestas 
V82 turbines.  The construction of 
these projects has been challenging 
as these were the first SOP wind 
farms to be built and connected 
in Ontario.  All four projects export 
power to the state-owned utility under 
a 20 year power purchase agreement.

Construction on the next three SOP 
projects will commence at the end 
of 2008. These projects represent 
an additional capacity of 29.7MW 
and again use Vestas V82 turbines, 
each of 1.65MW capacity.  A further 
24 GE 1.5MW turbines have been 
ordered for four further SOP projects 
and these will be constructed during 
the course of 2009.  Each of these 
projects is 9MW capacity.  Thus we 
expect to have just over 105MW of 
wind plant operating under the SOP 
programme in Ontario by the end of 
2009.

Work has commenced on AIM 
PowerGen Corp’s bid into the 
forthcoming 300MW Ontario RFP.  
Our sites are carefully selected and 
researched, and provide a solid base 
for credible bids.

Industry status and 
turbine supply
Although REG is a relatively young 
group, we benefit from an experienced 
workforce which has successfully 
established a track record of 
procurement. This has been achieved 
contrary to perceived industry wisdom 
that wind turbines have significant 
lead times. 

Since its inception in 2005, the Group 
has procured turbines for 18 projects, 
in three countries, from industry 
leading suppliers such as Vestas, 
GE and Nordex.  Most delivery times 
have been within a year and in some 
cases as short as six months.  The 
Group has achieved this position by 
being thorough in its development 
processes, maintaining adequate 
capital to avoid construction finance, 
and by becoming accepted as an 
experienced, reliable and fast-growing 
player in the marketplace.  Activity 
over the past year has reinforced 
these credentials and our group is 
now well positioned to become a 
leading player in its selected markets.  

The global wind power industry is 
extremely large, valued at US$40 
billion in 2007, and continues to grow 
rapidly. We are surrounded by several 
large players (mainly utilities) who 
deploy vast resources and last year 
over 50% of the global wind market 
was controlled by 15 companies.  In 
this environment, any independent 
player such as REG must be clear 
about its position, niche, and skill-
sets. We believe that our position 

as an entrepreneurial developer has 
been proved, particularly over the 
past 12 months.  

Outlook
The last year has seen rapid growth 
in our operating portfolio. The next 
year should see the construction 
of a further 30MW of SOP projects 
in Canada in addition to the 
commencement of construction on 
our two new projects at Goonhilly 
and Loscar in the UK. Together this 
is expected to increase our operating 
capacity to over 100MW. Additionally 
we are hopeful that our bids into 
the 500MW Ontario RFP will prove 
successful. 

We believe that we have a sound 
opportunity for growth both in the 
UK and Canada and, with a strong 
balance sheet and a profitable UK 
business, we are optimistic that 2009 
will prove a successful year for the 
Company. 

Andrew Whalley 
Chief Executive 
30 December 2008

Goonhilly Downs - Cornwall
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Incorporated in Guernsey, Renewable 
Energy Generation Ltd is a leading 
international wind power and bio-
power group. It was established 
and listed on London’s Alternative 
Investment Market (AIM) in May 
2005.

Who We Are

CORNWALL
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BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P
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AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P
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The Cornwall Light & Power Co. Ltd: 
based in Cornwall, UK, it currently 
operates seven wind projects in 
Cornwall, Cambridgshire, County 
Durham, Cumbria and Gwynedd, with 
a total capacity of 21.3MW and has 
a development pipeline of around 
300MW.

AIM PowerGen Corporation: based 
in Toronto, Canada, AIM PowerGen 
Corporation is one of Canada’s 
largest independent wind developers 
and has a pipeline of over 5500MW 
of potential wind projects across 
seven provinces.

REG Bio-Power UK Ltd: based in 
Norfolk, UK, it operates electricity 
generation plant fuelled by various 
grades of vegetable oil.



For the year ended 30 June 2008

9

History Lesson

Braich Ddu - North Wales

“The next year should 
see the construction 
of a further 30MW 
of SOP projects in 
Canada in addition to 
the commencement of 
construction on our two 
new projects at Goonhilly 
and Loscar in the UK”
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Renewable Energy Generation 
“REG” was established and 
listed on London’s Alternative 
Investment Market (AIM) in 
May 2005

REG concluded the purchase 
of The Cornwall Light & Power 
Company Ltd which owns a 
5.6MW wind farm situated on 
Goonhilly Downs in Cornwall

Tymien Wind Project
Investment in Tymien Wind 
Project, the project has a 
capacity of 50MW and is was 
the largest wind project in 
Central and Eastern Europe.

High Sharpley, High 
Pow and Braich Ddu 
Wind Projects
REG Begins construction of 3 
wind sites totaling 10.4MW

REG purchase the AIM 
PowerGen Corporation “AIM”, 
a leading Canadian wind 
Developer.

Annual Report and Accounts

10

History of REG



Business O
verview

2008
2007

CORNWALL
LIGHT POWER&
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

REG
BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIM
POWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

CORNWALL
LIGHT POWER&
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

REG
BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIM
POWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

CORNWALL
LIGHT POWER&
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

REG
BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIM
POWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

CORNWALL
LIGHT POWER&
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

REG
BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIM
POWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

CORNWALL
LIGHT POWER&
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

REG
BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIM
POWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

CORNWALL
LIGHT POWER&
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

REG
BIOPOWER
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIM
POWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

AIMPOWERGEN
P A R T  O F  T H E  R E G  G R O U P

Whittlesey and 
Ramsey Wind 
Projects
REG completes construction 
of 2 single turbine sites 
totalling 1.8MW each

Bentwater UCO  
Project
REG starts commercial 
production of a 6MW 
vegetable oil fuelled plant.

Roskrow Barton 
Wind Project
REG Completes construction 
of the 2 turbine project 
totalling 1.7MW

REG concludes the purchase 
of Living power and Living 
Fuels in pursuit of the 
opportunity to utilise used 
cooking oil (“UCO”) to fuel 
diesel generators in the UK

Tymien Wind Project
REG announces its sale of 
its stake in the Tymien wind 
project in Poland for a cash 
consideration of £10m

Canada
REG concludes construction 
of 39.6MW of wind projects in 
Canada
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Goonhilly Downs - Cornwall
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Where We Do It

Goonhilly 

Cornwall

Installed Capacity:

5.6MW
Established:

1994

Roskrow 
Barton
Cornwall

Installed Capacity:

1.7MW
Established:

2008

Whittlesey 

Cambridgeshire

Installed Capacity:

1.8MW
Established:

2008

Ramsey 

Cambridgeshire

Installed Capacity:

1.8MW
Established:

2008

Bentwaters 

Suffolk

Installed Capacity:

6.0MW
Established:

2008

High 
Sharpley
County Durham

Installed Capacity:

2.6MW
Established:

2007

High Pow 

Cumbria

Installed Capacity:

3.9MW
Established:

2007

Braich Ddu 

Gwyneth

Installed Capacity:

3.9MW
Established:

2007

Currently REG has a portfolio of turbines within the UK that have an installed capacity of 21.3MW along with a 6MW Biomass 
plant.  Below is a short detail about each of our generation sites. 

UK
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Where We Do It

 Potential
Location Capacity

Pentre Tump 4.0MW 

Goonhilly repower 12 to 15MW

French Farm 4.0MW

Loscar 4.0MW

Cheverton Down 9.0MW

South Sharpley 8.0MW

Beech Tree Farm 3.9MW

Orchard End 4.0MW

Harrow (Canada) 29.7MW

Mohawk Point

Ontario

Installed Capacity:

9.9MW
Established:

2008

Clear Creek

Ontario

Installed Capacity:

9.9MW
Established:

2008

Cultus

Ontario

Installed Capacity:

9.9MW
Established:

2008

Frogmore 

Ontario

Installed Capacity:

9.9MW
Established:

2008

©2008 Google - Imagery ©2008 TerraMetrics

As well as developing Wind Projects within the UK we also 
have a major interest in Canada.

Canada
REG has also a number of sites that are consented or in late 
stage development

Where We Hope to Do It Soon
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Company Information

Registered number
43099

 Directors
M. J. Liston - Chairman 
A. N. Whalley 
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N. A. Le Quesne 
N. Syvret 
D. Crockford
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Northern Trust International Fund Administration Services (Guernsey) Limited 
Trafalgar Court 
Les Banques 
St. Peter Port 
Guernsey, Channel Islands 
GY1 3QL

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP 
14 New Street 
St. Peter Port 
Guernsey 
Channel Islands 
GY1 4AF

Bankers
Bank of Scotland 
155 Bishopsgate Exchange 
London 
EC2M 3YB

Registered Office
Trafalgar Court 
Les Banques 
St. Peter Port 
Guernsey, Channel Islands 
GY1 3QL 
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Director Profiles

From Left to Right: Dr. Malcolm Kennedy, Andrew Whalley (Managing Director), Nigel Syvret, David Crockford (Financial 
Director), Mike Liston (Chairman) and Nigel Le Quesne

The board of REG comprises four non-executive directors and two executive directors

Mike Liston OBE - Chairman, Non-Executive Director
Mike Liston is a chartered, graduate electrical engineer, with more than 30 years experience of UK and overseas power 
industries. He held senior technical posts at some of the UK’s largest power stations before being appointed technical 
adviser to the Director General of the Central Electricity Generating Board, then joining its commercial arm, with 
responsibility for power station fuel procurement.

Mike moved to Jersey in 1986 as chief engineer of the Jersey Electricity Co. Ltd, a public company listed on the 
main London Stock Exchange. He was responsible for several major power generation, transmission and distribution 
infrastructure projects before being appointed chief executive in 1992. Since then he has successfully diversified the 
business into telecommunications, internet data centres and energy consultancy services.

He is chairman of the Channel Islands Grid Company Ltd, which builds, owns and operates high voltage power networks 
between Guernsey, Jersey and Continental Europe, manages power purchase agreements and schedules 300MW of 
power plant in the Channel Islands, soon to include renewable generators.

Mike is a Fellow of The Royal Academy of Engineering and is a Fellow of The Institution of Electrical Engineers, a member 
of its Audit Committee and past member of its governing Council, Public Affairs Board and Professional Disciplinary 
Board. He is non-executive Chairman of Jersey’s postal utility and has been appointed to many honorary roles by the 
government of Jersey, currently including Chairman of the Jersey Appointments Commission, which ensures probity in 
public sector appointments.

Mike was awarded an OBE in the 2007 New Years Honours List, for services to the electricity industry.

He is a member of the Audit Committee of Renewable Energy Generation Limited.
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Director Profiles

Nigel Le Quesne - Non Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee
Nigel Le Quesne, is the Managing Director of the Jersey Trust Company Group. He holds a number of directorships 
across several business sectors in both private and quoted companies.  Nigel is Chairman of the Audit Committee and a 
member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of Renewable Energy Generation Limited.

Nigel was admitted as an Associate in 1989 and a Fellow in 1999 of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
Administrators and as a Fellow of the Chartered Management Institute. He is also a member of The Society of Trust 
and Estate Practitioners, The Jersey Taxation Society, The Institute of Directors and a committee member of the Jersey 
Association of Trust Companies (JATCo). 

Nigel Syvret – Non-Executive Director
Nigel Syvret is a Director of the Jersey Trust Company Group.  He holds a number of directorships across several 
business sectors in both private and quoted companies.  He is also a member of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee of Renewable Energy Generation Limited.

Nigel was admitted as an Associate of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in 1997 and is a 
Member of The Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners. Nigel also attends, as a committee member, the monthly 
meetings of the Jersey Association of Trust Companies (JATCo). 

Dr Malcolm Kennedy CBE - Non Executive Director, Chairman of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee
Dr Kennedy has held many high profile positions during his 40 years in the power industry, including his Presidency 
of the Institution of Electrical Engineers from 1999-2000.  He is a fellow of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, the Royal 
Academy of Engineering, and in 1999 was awarded a CBE in recognition of his services to exports to developing 
markets.  He was formerly Chairman of NEA, national energy action charity, and advises OFGEM (Office of Gas and 
Electricity Markets)/DTI on Renewables.  Malcolm was formerly Chairman of international consulting engineers PB Power 
Ltd, formerly Merz and McLellan, which he joined in 1961.  He was appointed a member of the Electricity Networks 
Strategy Group in 2005, sponsored by OFGEM and DTI. He is a non executive director of the New and Renewable Energy 
Centre.

Malcolm is Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of 
Renewable Energy Generation Limited.

Andrew Whalley – Chief Executive
Andrew Whalley, was a leading fund manager in the utility sector with over 15 years of specific experience in utility 
investment. He was head of investment at Legg Mason Investments plc and was a main board director of Johnson Fry 
plc prior to the takeover by Legg Mason Inc.  Andrew founded Renewable Energy Generation Limited in 2005 and has 
been Chief Executive Officer since 2007.

David Crockford – Finance Director
David commenced his career as a Chartered Accountant with Deloitte where he gained 10 years of experience in private 
and public sector business. Following his time at Deloitte, David moved overseas to work in the international petroleum 
sector where he was appointed financial controller to an oil supply and bunkering group based in the UK and South 
America.  Prior to his appointment as Finance Director to Renewable Energy Generation, he was the Chief Financial 
Officer of Duchy Originals Limited, the organic food company founded by HRH The Prince of Wales.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors present their report along with the audited 
Financial Statements of Renewable Energy Generation 
Limited (the Company) for the year ending 30 June 2008.

Principal Activity
The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
(the Group), is to provide investors with an opportunity to 
participate in the growth of the global renewable energy 
market, through investment in wind energy and other 
renewable energy projects.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the 
Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Financial 
Statements in accordance with applicable Guernsey law 
and generally accepted accounting principles.

Guernsey Company law requires the directors to prepare 
Financial Statements for each financial year which give a 
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company 
and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. 
In preparing these Financial Statements, the directors 
should:-

Select suitable accounting policies and then apply •	
them consistently
Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable •	
and prudent 

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper 
accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy 
at any time, the financial position of the Company and 
enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements 
comply with the Companies (Guernsey) Law 1994. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Results
The results for the year are shown on page 24.

Dividend
A final dividend of 3 pence has been proposed.

Directors and Their Interests
The Directors in office during the period and their interests 
in the share capital of the Company are shown in the table 
below:-

Ordinary share of 10p each

1 July 
 2007

30 June 
2008

Latest 
date 

prior to 
publication

No. No. No.

Mike Liston - 48,131 48,131

Andrew 
Whalley 30,000 262,017 262,017

Nigel Syvret - 23,000 23,000

Malcolm 
Kennedy - 13,500 13,500

Nigel  
Le Quesne - 23,000 23,000

John 
Donelan 
(resigned 4 
December 
2007) - - -

David 
Crockford 
(appointed 
4 December 
2007) - - -
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Report of the Directors

Directors’ interests in share options and warrants are 
disclosed on page 21.

Substantial shareholdings
Up to 22 November 2008, the Company had been notified 
of the following disclosable interests which amounted 
to 3 per cent or more of the issued share capital of the 
Company:-

Number
Percentage 

held

Lehman Brothers 19,351,287 18.77%

F&C Asset 
Management 18,338,863 17.79%

New Star Asset 
Management 12,500,000 12.12%

Artemis 
Investment 
Management 11,585,783 11.24%

Aviva Investors 6,369,638 6.18%

Fidelity 
Investments 5,238,500 5.08%

Black Rock 
Investment 
Management 4,529,595 4.39%

Payment policy
It is the Group’s policy to settle the terms of payment with 
suppliers when agreeing the terms of the transaction, to 
ensure that Suppliers are aware of these terms and to 
abide by them.

Going Concern
The Group’s immediate cash flow needs are supported 
by cash balances on hand along with the provision of 

a corporate revolving credit facility of £30million as 
detailed in note 26 to the accounts.  The existing facility 
is due for renewal on 30 December 2008.  The Group 
has successfully renegotiated a revised facility with its 
bankers for an 18 month period from 31 December 2008 
for an amount of £20million.

The Board have reviewed the Group’s forecasts and 
budgets over the next 18 months and are satisfied 
that the current cash balances in combination with the 
revised facility provide adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this 
reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the accounts.

The Board continues to evaluate further financing 
opportunities that will facilitate the continued build out of 
the Group’s UK and Canadian development portfolios over 
and above that allowed by the renewed corporate facility.

Auditors
The Auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, have indicated their 
willingness to continue in office and a resolution that they 
be re-appointed will be proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting.

The Report of the Directors was approved by the Board 
and signed on its behalf by:-

David Crockford 
Director 
30 December 2008

Braich Ddu - North Wales
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

The Directors present a Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2008.

A resolution to approve this Directors’ Remuneration Report will be proposed at the Company’s forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee membership consists of Nigel Le Quesne, Nigel Syvret and Malcolm 
Kennedy. The Committee meets at least once a year and is charged with advising on the nomination and remuneration 
policy for the Non-executive directors.

Non-Executive Directors
The Non-executive Directors do not have service contracts.  The Non-executive Directors have letters of appointment 
concerning, amongst other things, the initial terms for which they are appointed, a general statement of their role and 
the duties and the fees they will receive as a Director.

Service Contracts and Letters of Appointment
The Letters of Appointment of the Directors who served during the period ending 30 June 2008 include the following 
terms:-

Date of letter of appointment
Unexpired term 

(months)
Notice period 

(months)

Executive Directors

Andrew Whalley 1 July 2007 12 12

David Crockford 4 December 2007 12 12

Non-Executive Directors

Mike Liston 5 June 2008 9 1

Nigel Syvret 20 March 2008 9 1

Malcolm Kennedy 15 May 2008 9 1

Nigel Le Quesne 5 June 2008 9 1

Non-executives are generally appointed for terms of one year. The Letters of Appointment contain a notice period of 1 
month.

Directors’ Remuneration

Total salary and fees 
for year ended  
30 June 2008

Total salary and fees 
for year ended  
30 June 2007

£ £

Executive directors

Andrew Whalley 180,000 -

David Crockford 64,250 -

Non-executive directors

Mike Liston 50,000 50,000

George Cardona - 21,360

Tod Kersten - 15,556

Malcolm Kennedy 25,000 2,816

Nigel Syvret 25,000 13,315

Nigel Le Quesne 25,000 25,000

John Donelan 8,348 25,000

Aggregate Remuneration 377,598 153,047
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Directors’ share options and warrants
The following rights to subscribe to warrant shares were held by Directors during the period to 30 June 2008.

1 July 2007* Transferred 30 June 2008 Exercise price
Date from which 

exercisable Expiry date

Warrants

Andrew 
Whalley 736,211 (209,052)* 527,159 100p 16 May 2008 16 May 2010

1 July 2007** Granted 30 June 2008 Exercise price
Date from which 
exercisable Expiry date

Options granted under Employee Share Option Plan

Andrew 
Whalley - 250,000 250,000 114p

5 December 
2010

5 December 
2017

David 
Crockford - 100,000 100,000 114p

5 December 
2010

5 December 
2017

*transferred to an unrelated party     
**or date of appointment, if later.  

Share options are awarded annually by the remuneration committee under the Employee Share Option Plan.  Options 
can only be exercised if certain Performance Conditions are satisfied.  The Performance Conditions are measured once 
only at the end of the Performance Period, which commences on the date of grant of the Options and ends on the third 
anniversary of that date.

The value delivered to the Company’s shareholders (total shareholder return) will be ranked in comparison with the value 
delivered to the shareholders of nine other similar companies which have been selected by the Board of Directors. The 
companies are placed together in a “Comparator Group”.

If the Company’s ranking is below the median of the Comparator Group then the Options shall not vest and shall 
lapse at the end of the Performance Period.  If the Company’s performance places it at the median of the Comparator 
Group, then the Options shall be exercisable as to 50%.  If the Company’s ranking places it above the median of the 
Comparator Group then, depending on its exact placing in the Comparator Group, a percentage above 50% and up to 
100% of the Options shall vest.

The market price of the Company’s shares on 30 June 2008 was 108.5 pence per share. The highest and lowest market 
prices during the year for each share under option that is unexpired at the year end were 123.5 pence and 106.5 pence 
respectively.

Approval
The Directors’ Remuneration Report was approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:-

Nigel Le Quesne 
Director  
30 December 2008
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Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to meeting high standards 
of corporate governance and as such the Board 
acknowledges its contribution to achieving management 
accountability, improving risk management and ultimately 
to creating shareholder value.  The Company has its listing 
on AIM and therefore does not need to comply with the 
Combined Code.  However, we have chosen to report on 
Corporate Governance because in our view it constitutes 
best practice.

Operation of the Board
The Board of Directors comprises the Non-executive 
Chairman, three other Non-executive Directors and two 
Executive Directors. Their profiles on pages 16 and 17 
demonstrate a range of experience and sufficient calibre 
to bring independent judgement on issues of strategy, 
performance, resources and standards of conduct which 
is vital to the success of the Group.

The Board is responsible to the Company’s shareholders 
for the proper management of the Company.  It met 22 
times during the year. All Directors receive written reports 
prior to each Board meeting which enable them to make 
informed decisions on the corporate and business issues 
under consideration.  

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for 
ensuring that Board procedures are followed and all 
Directors have access to his advice and services.  

The Board has a formal schedule of matters specifically 
reserved to it for decision. These include strategic 
planning, business acquisitions and disposals, 
authorisation of major capital expenditure and material 
contractual arrangements, setting policies for the conduct 
of business and approval of budgets and financial 
statements.  Operational decisions are delegated to the 
Executive Directors.

Evaluation of the Board’s performance
Performance evaluation takes place at a number of 
levels, for individual Directors, Board committees and in 
assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole. The 
evaluation of individual Directors’ performance is carried 
out by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
Executive Directors’ performance is evaluated using a 
balanced scorecard approach which combines business 
and personal performance objectives with financial and 
non-financial measures of achievement against those 
objectives.

The evaluation of Non-executive Directors uses self-
appraisal and interview with the Chairman to consider 
aspects of performance including attendance and 
participation at Board meetings, quality of involvement 
in committees, commitment and effectiveness of 
their contribution to Board activities, the adequacy of 
training and Director independence. The performance of 
the Chairman is reviewed annually in a meeting of the 
Executive and Non-executive Directors.

Board Committees
The Board has established a number of committees, 
each with defined terms of reference, procedures, 
responsibilities and powers. The minutes of committee 
meetings are normally sent to all Directors and verbal 
updates are given at Board meetings.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of Mike Liston, Malcolm 
Kennedy and Nigel Le Quesne (Chairman). The Audit 
Committee met 3 times during the year to consider the 
annual and interim Financial Statements and is charged 
with monitoring the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
systems of internal control and risk assurance function, 
reviewing the scope and results of the work carried out by 
external auditors and reviewing the Financial Statements 
and related policies and assumptions. The scope of the 
non-audit services provided is reviewed by the Audit 
Committee before engagement of the services.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee will be 
available for inspection at the AGM.

Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee met 4 
times during the year and comprises Malcolm Kennedy 
(chairman), Nigel Le Quesne and Nigel Syvret all of whom 
are non-executive directors.  The Committee keeps 
under review the composition of the Board and makes 
recommendations to the Board concerning appointments. 

The Committee is also responsible for setting 
remuneration for all executive directors appointed by 
the Company, including pension rights and provision for 
compensation payments.

Communications and relationships with 
Shareholders
Communications with shareholders are given high priority. 
The board is accountable to the Company’s shareholders 
and as such it is important for the Board to appreciate 
the requirements of shareholders and equally that 
shareholders understand how the actions of the board 
and short-term financial performance relates to the 
achievement of the Company’s longer term goals.

The Company has a policy of maintaining an active 
dialogue with institutional shareholders, fund managers 
and analysts with regular dialogue, together with general 
presentations, at the time of the announcement of the 
financial results. The Annual General Meeting is used 
as an opportunity to communicate with shareholders. All 
shareholders are given due notice of the Annual General 
Meeting and are welcome to participate.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

Independent Auditors’ Report to 
the Members of Renewable Energy 
Generation Limited
We have audited the group financial statements of 
Renewable Energy Generation Limited for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 which comprise the Consolidated 
Income Statement, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity and the related notes 1 to 
38.  These group financial statements have been prepared 
under the accounting policies set out therein.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Section 64 of the 
Companies (Guernsey) Law 1994.  Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s 
members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose.  To 
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company 
and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, 
for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors 
and auditors
The directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
Guernsey law as set out in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements 
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory 
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group 
financial statements give a true and fair view and are 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
(Guernsey) Law 1994.  We also report to you if, in our 
opinion, the Report of the Directors is not consistent with 
the financial statements, if the company has not kept 
proper accounting records or if we have not received all 
the information and explanations we require for our audit.  

We read other information contained in the Report, and 
consider whether it is consistent with the audited group 
financial statements.  The other information comprises 
only the Directors’ profiles, Chairman’s statement, Chief 
Executive’s statement, Company Information, Report of 
the Directors, the Directors’ remuneration report and 
Corporate Governance.  We consider the implications 
for our report if we become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the 
financial statements.  Our responsibilities do not extend to 
any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the 
Auditing Practices Board.  An audit includes examination, 

on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements.  It also includes 
an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments 
made by the directors in the preparation of the financial 
statements, and of whether the accounting policies are 
appropriate to the group’s circumstances, consistently 
applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered 
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.  In forming 
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of 
the presentation of information in the group financial 
statements.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair 
view, in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, of the state of the group’s affairs as at 30 
June 2008 and of its loss for the year then ended; and 
have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies (Guernsey) Law, 1994.  

Ernst & Young LLP 
Guernsey 
30 December 2008
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Consolidated Income Statement

Notes Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

£ £

Revenue 6 3,563,658 1,443,003

Cost of sales (1,769,151) (690,357)

Gross profit 1,794,507 752,646

Administrative expenses (3,864,178) (1,172,267)

Development costs (2,150,402) (1,838,260)

Group trading loss (4,220,073) (2,257,881)

Other operating income 8 111,411 55,187

Share of post tax loss of associate accounted 
for using the equity method (48,035) -

Group operating loss from continuing 
operations (4,156,697) (2,202,694)

Finance revenue 9 892,696 562,744

Finance costs 10 (687,813) -

Loss on continuing operations before taxation 11 (3,951,814) (1,639,950)

Tax credit 13 374,579 394,828

Loss for the year from continuing operations (3,577,235) (1,245,122)

Discontinued operations

Loss for the year from discontinued operations 7 (507,959) (80,626)

Loss for the year (4,085,194) (1,325,748)

Loss for the year attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent (4,085,194) (1,325,748)

Loss per share (pence)

Basic and diluted LPS from continuing 
operations 15 (3.47p) (1.50p)

Basic and diluted LPS on loss for the year 15 (3.96p) (1.60p)
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

Notes 2008 2007

£ £

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Goodwill 16 4,813,460 3,009,914

Intangibles 16 20,888,176 20,703,800

Development costs 16 3,920,595 3,963,434

Property, plant and equipment 18 80,658,466 31,752,469

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 19 - 8,555,681

110,280,697 67,985,298

Current assets

Inventories 21 116,217 -

Trade and other receivables 22 4,297,653 17,660,293

Intangibles 23 316,982 760,053

Cash and cash equivalents 24 16,453,225 20,751,234

21,184,077 39,171,580

Total assets 131,464,774 107,156,878

EQUITY

Share capital 29 10,310,101 10,310,101

Share premium 30 79,645,688 79,645,688

Special reserve 31 10,000,000 10,000,000

Fair value and other reserves 32 4,009,899 1,479,662

Share based payment reserve 33 994,872 546,648

Retained earnings (12,352,148) (4,142,914)

Total equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders 92,608,412 97,839,185

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities 26 16,915,481 -

Deferred tax liabilities 28 5,797,775 6,774,483

22,713,256 6,774,483

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 25 6,243,686 2,543,210

Financial liabilities 26 9,899,420 -

16,143,106 2,543,210

Total liabilities 38,856,362 9,317,693

Total equity and liabilities 131,464,774 107,156,878

These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board on 30 December 2008 
and signed on its behalf by

Nigel Le Quesne      David Crockford 
Director       Director
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Notes
Year ended  

30 June 2008
Year ended  

30 June 2007

£ £

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 34 (4,584,309) (921,750)

Net cash used in operating activities (4,584,309) (921,750)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 20 (1,427,872) (9,557,237)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (44,815,860) (28,547,782)

Proceeds from sale of investments 10,000,000 4,794,858

Interest received 892,696 1,629,229

Movement in restricted cash accounts 22 13,835,260 (16,913,815)

Net cash used in investing activities (21,515,776) (31,680,932)

Cash flows from financing activities

New borrowings 26 26,217,368 -

Interest paid 10 (90,280) -

Proceeds from issue of share - 45,788,952

Transaction costs from issue of shares - (2,740,564)

Dividends paid to the Company’s equity shareholders 14 (4,124,040) (2,790,403)

Net cash generated from financing activities 22,003,048 40,257,985

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (4,097,037) (9,258,512)

Cash at the beginning of the year 20,751,234 28,611,764

Exchange (loss)/gain (200,972) 1,397,982

Cash at end of year 24 16,453,225 20,751,234
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Share capital
Share premium 

account
Special 
reserve

Fair value and 
other reserves

Share based 
payment reserve

Retained 
earnings Total equity

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

At 1 July 2006 5,500,000 36,850,250 10,000,000 (66,308) 191,368 (26,763) 52,448,547
Fair value losses 
on available for 
sale investments - - - (4,384) - - (4,384)
Transfer to profit 
and loss on sale of 
available for sale 
investments - - - 70,692 - - 70,692
Foreign currency 
translation - - - 1,479,662 - - 1,479,662
Net income and 
expense for the 
year recognised 
directly in equity - - - 1,545,970 - - 1,545,970
Loss for the year - - - - (1,325,748) (1,325,748)
Total income and 
expense for the 
year - - - 1,545,970 - (1,325,748) 220,222
Issue of share 
capital 4,810,101 45,536,002 - - - - 50,346,103
Share issue costs - (2,740,564) - - - - (2,740,564)
Share based 
payments - - - - 355,280 - 355,280
Dividend - - - - - (2,790,403) (2,790,403)
At 30 June 2007 10,310,101 79,645,688 10,000,000 1,479,662 546,648 (4,142,914) 97,839,185
Foreign currency 
translation - - - 2,530,237 - - 2,530,237
Net income and 
expense for the 
year recognised 
directly in equity - - - 2,530,237 - - 2,530,237
Loss for the year - - - - - (4,085,194) (4,085,194)
Total income and 
expense for the 
year - - - 2,530,237 - (4,085,194) (1,554,957)
Share based 
payments - - - - 448,224 - 448,224
Dividend - - - - - (4,124,040) (4,124,040)
At 30 June 2008 10,310,101 79,645,688 10,000,000 4,009,899 994,872 (12,352,148) 92,608,412
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1. General Information
Renewable Energy Generation Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) provide shareholders with the 
opportunity to participate in the growth of the global renewable energy market through the development, construction 
and ownership of wind energy and other renewable power projects. 

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Guernsey.  The address of its registered office 
is Trafalgar Court, Les Banques, St. Peter Port, Guernsey, GY1 3QL.  The Group has no employees.

The Company has its listing on the Alternative Investment Market.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 30 December 2008.

2. Statement of Compliance
These consolidated financial statements of the Group are for the year to 30 June 2008.

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 
June 2008.

New standards and interpretations not applied

IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these 
financial statements:

International Accounting Standards (IAS / IFRSs) Effective date*

IFRS 2 Amendment to IFRS 2 – Vesting Conditions and Cancellations 1 January 2009

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009

IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (revised September 2007) 1 January 2009

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised March 2007) 1 January 2009

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised January 2008) 1 July 2009

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)

IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008

IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 July 2008

IFRIC 14 IAS 19 – The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements 
and their Interaction 1 January 2008

IFRIC 15 Agreement for the construction of real estate 1 January 2009

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation 1 October 2008

IFRIC 17 Distribution of non-cash assets to owners 1 July 2009

The amendment to IFRS 2 restricts the definition of vesting conditions to include only service conditions (requiring a 
specified period of service to be completed) and performance conditions (requiring the other party to achieve a personal 
goal or contribute to achieving a corporate target). All other features are not vesting conditions, and whereas a failure 
to achieve such a condition was previously regarded as a forfeiture (giving rise to a reversal of amounts previously 
charged to profit) it must be reflected in the grant date fair value of the award and treated as a cancellation, which 
results in either an acceleration of the expected charge, or a continuation over the remaining vesting period, depending 
on whether the condition is under the control of the entity or counterparty. The amendment is mandatory for periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2009 and the Group is currently assessing its impact on the financial statements, 
although it is not expected to be material.

The Group does not anticipate early adopting the revised IFRS 3 and so will apply it prospectively to all business 
combinations on or after 1 January 2010. Whilst it is not possible to estimate the outcome of adoption, the key 
features of the revised IFRS 3 include a requirement for acquisition-related costs to be expensed and not included 
in the purchase price; and for contingent consideration to be recognised at fair value on the acquisition date (with 
subsequent changes recognised in the income statement and not as a change to goodwill). The standard also changes 
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the treatment of non-controlling interests (formerly minority interests) with an option to recognise these at full fair value 
as at the acquisition date and a requirement for previously held non-controlling interests to be fair valued as at the date 
control is obtained, with gains and losses recognised in the income statement.

IFRS 8 requires disclosure based on information presented to the board for evaluating the performance of operating 
segments.  The impact of adopting IFRS8 is under assessment.

Whilst the revised IAS 1 will have no impact on the measurement of the Group’s results or net assets it is likely to result 
in certain changes in the presentation of the Group’s financial statements from 2009 onwards.

IAS 23 has been revised to require capitalisation of borrowing costs when such costs relate to a qualifying asset. A 
qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or 
sale. In accordance with the transitional provisions in the Standard, the Group will adopt this as a prospective change. 
Accordingly, borrowing costs will be capitalised on qualifying assets with a commencement date of 1 January 2009. No 
changes will be made for borrowing costs incurred prior to this date that have been expensed.

IAS 27 revised is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, with earlier application only permitted 
when the revised IFRS 3 is applied. The revised standard applies retrospectively with some exceptions. IAS 27 revised 
no longer restricts the allocation to minority interest of losses incurred by a subsidiary to the amount of the non-
controlling equity investment in the subsidiary. A partial disposal of equity interest in a subsidiary that does not result 
in a loss of control will be accounted for as an equity transaction and will have no impact on goodwill nor will it give rise 
to any gain or loss. Where there is loss of control of a subsidiary, any retained interest will have to be remeasured to 
fair value, which will impact the gain or loss recognised on disposal. The Group is currently assessing the impact on its 
financial statements from adopting IAS 27 revised.

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of the remaining standards and interpretations will have a material 
impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application.

* The effective dates stated here are those given in the original IASB/IFRIC standards and interpretations.  As the 
Group has elected to prepare their financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, 
the application of new standards and interpretations will be subject to their having been endorsed for use in the EU via 
the EU Endorsement mechanism. In the majority of cases this will result in an effective date consistent with that given 
in the original standard or interpretation but the need for endorsement restricts the Group’s discretion to early adopt 
standards.

3. Accounting policies
Basis of preparation

The Group’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union as they apply to the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2008.  
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2008.

The Group financial statements are presented in Sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest pounds (£) except 
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 30 
June 2008.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and expenses and profits and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions that are recognised in assets, are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

The acquisitions of Living Power Limited, REG Power Management Limited and Living Fuels Limited during the year have 
been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting.  The purchase method of accounting involves allocating 
the cost of the business combination to the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed at the date of acquisition.  Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements include the results of Living 
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Power Limited, REG Power Management Limited and Living Fuels Limited for the period from their acquisition.

The acquisition of Living Power Limited and Living Fuels Limited was made via a newly incorporated UK holding company, 
REG Bio-Power UK Limited, that was specially set up for the purpose of acquiring these subsidiaries.  The results of REG 
Bio-Power UK Limited are therefore included in the consolidated financial statements since its date of incorporation on 
4 September 2007.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.  The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

a) Generation revenue

Revenue from the sale of electricity represents the invoice value, pre sales tax, of electricity provided to third parties 
and is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.

b) TRIADS revenue

Revenue from the sale of TRIADS represents the invoice value, pre sales tax, of TRIADS provided to third parties and is 
recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.

c) ROCs, LECs revenue

Renewable Obligation Certificates (ROCs) are issued to qualifying renewable generators as evidence that a licensed 
electricity supplier has supplied qualifying electricity to their customers in Great Britain. These certificates may be 
traded separately from the electricity to which they relate through a system of limited banking and borrowing in order to 
give individual suppliers more flexibility as to how they meet the demands of the Obligation.

Renewable energy generators who meet Customs & Excise conditions for exemption will be issued with Levy Exemption 
Certificates (LECs) for their generation. The LECs transfer along with the electricity and can be used by business 
consumers to claim levy exemption.

The fair value of Renewable Obligation Certificates is recognised in the income statement account as operating income 
when eligible electricity is generated.

d) Interest income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues (using the effective interest method that is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset).

e) Dividend income

Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled transactions - Warrants

Warrant holders of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby warrant 
holders render services as consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-settled transactions’).  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are granted.  
The fair value is determined using a binomial model. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant warrant holder becomes fully entitled 
to the award (‘the vesting date’).  The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting 
date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.  The income statement charge or credit for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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Equity-settled transactions – Employee Share Option Plan

Share options are awarded under the Employee Share Option Plan.  Options can only be exercised if certain 
Performance Conditions are satisfied.  The Performance Conditions are measured once only at the end of the 
Performance Period, which commences on the date of grant of the Options and ends on the third anniversary of that 
date.

The value delivered to the Company’s shareholders will be ranked in comparison with the value delivered to the 
shareholders of nine other similar companies which have been selected by the Board of Directors. The companies are 
placed together in a “Comparator Group”.

If the Company’s ranking is below the median of the Comparator Group then the Options shall not vest and shall 
lapse at the end of the Performance Period.  If the Company’s performance places it at the median of the Comparator 
Group, then the Options shall be exercisable as to 50%.  If the Company’s ranking places it above the median of the 
Comparator Group then, depending on its exact placing in the Comparator Group, a percentage above 50% and up to 
100% of the Options shall vest.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees under the Employee Share Option Plan is measured by reference 
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and is recognised as an expense over the vesting period, which 
ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is determined using an 
appropriate pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other 
than conditions linked to the price of the shares of the Company (market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided 
that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the 
vesting period has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions 
and of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or, in the case of an instrument subject to a market 
condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance 
sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Taxes

Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Deferred tax assets/
liabilities are carried on an undiscounted basis.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction •	
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit and loss; and
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in •	
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of •	
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit and loss; and
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in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and •	
interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be 
utilised.  Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the 
balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority.

Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in •	
which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item 
as applicable; and
receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. •	

The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the balance sheet.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business 
combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities.  
Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is reviewed 
for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, 
allocated to each of the cash-generating units to which it relates, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected 
to generate future cash flows, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units 
or groups of units.  Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated:

represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes •	
(usually at an operating segment level); and
is not larger than a segment based on either the Group’s primary or the Group’s secondary reporting format •	
determined in accordance with IAS 14 Segment Reporting. 

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating 
units), to which the goodwill relates.  Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.  Where goodwill forms part of 
a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss in disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the 
relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired 
in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets 
are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding capitalised development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in the 
income statement in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.
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The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite 
useful life is reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of 
consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or 
method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible 
assets with finite lives is recognised in the income statement in the expense category consistent with the function of 
the intangible asset.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either individually or at the cash 
generating unit level. Such intangibles are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is 
reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the 
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is 
derecognised.

Development costs

An intangible asset arising from the development expenditure on an individual renewable energy project is recognised 
only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 
available for sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future 
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure 
during the development.  Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied 
requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Any 
expenditure capitalised is amortised over the period of expected future sales from the related project.

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use or more 
frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting year.

A summary of the policies applied to the Group’s development costs is as follows:

Useful life Finite

Method used
Amortised over the period of expected future sales from the related project on a 
straight-line basis

Internally generated or 
acquired Both

Impairment testing/
recoverable amount testing

Annually for assets not yet in use and more frequently when an indication of impairment 
exists.  The amortisation method is reviewed at each financial year-end.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is 
derecognised.

Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.  If any 
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of 
the asset’s recoverable amount.  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s 
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.  When the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset.  Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the income statement in those expense 
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

As assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is 
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estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the 
carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in the income statement unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in 
which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted 
in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its 
remaining useful life.

Property, plant and equipment

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment in value.  Such cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of such plant and equipment when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are 
met, but excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing which is expensed as incurred.

Assets in the course of construction are stated at cost and are recognised only when it is probable that a project under 
development will be constructed by the Group.  This decision is based on management judgement when the project 
meets key criteria required for its successful development, including planning permission and grid access.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than assets in the course of 
construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, on the following bases;

Operating wind sites  over 20 years•	
Other equipment  over 5 to 10 years •	

The carrying values of plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Investments

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either investments at fair value through profit or loss, or 
available-for-sale investments, as appropriate.  When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at 
fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction 
costs.  The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition and, where allowed and 
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year-end.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the Group 
commits to purchase the asset.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require 
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and those assets designated 
at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling in the near term.  Derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated and effective 
hedging instruments.  Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in income.

Available-for-sale investments

Available-for-sale investments are those non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or 
are not classified in any of the categories set out in IAS 39.  After initial recognition available-for-sale investments 
are measured at fair value with gains or losses being recognised as a separate component of equity and unrealised 
foreign exchange gains or losses taken through the income statement, until the investment is derecognised or until 
the investment is determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is 
included in the income statement.

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to 
quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.  For investments where there is no active 
market, fair value is determined using valuation techniques.  Such techniques include using recent arm’s length market 
transactions, reference to the current market value of another instrument, which is substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow analysis and option pricing models.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsFor the year ended 30 June 2008

35

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each 
product to its present location and condition, as follows:

Raw materials – purchase cost on weighted average basis,•	
Work in progress and finished goods – cost of direct materials and labour plus attributable overheads based on a •	
normal level of activity, excluding borrowing costs 

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to completion 
and disposal.

Renewable Obligation Certificates

The fair value of ROCs is recognised on the balance sheet as a current intangible asset.  The carrying amount of ROCs 
generated in the current financial year is re-valued to the current fair value based on a market price in an active market 
as at the balance sheet date.  ROCs that existed at the previous year end are revalued as at the balance sheet date 
with the corresponding gain/loss recognised in equity.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of joint ventures accounted for as investments at fair value through profit or loss in the prior year was 
based on the value in use.  The value in use was calculated using the latest budgeted/forecast cash flows of the cash 
generating unit and a risk adjusted discount rate.  The value in use was calculated using a discount rate of 15%.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts.  
Provision is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the debts.  Bad debts are 
written off when identified.  The fair value of trade and other receivables is equal to the carrying amount.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash in hand and deposits held at call with banks. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Obligations for loans and borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes party to the related contracts and are 
measured initially at the fair value of consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities 
are recognised respectively in finance revenue and finance cost. 

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are generally expensed as incurred.  Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
or construction of an asset are capitalised while the asset is being constructed as part of the cost of that asset.  
Capitalisation of borrowing costs should commence when:

Expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs are being incurred; and•	
Activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress. •	

Capitalisation cease when the asset is substantially ready for its intended use or sale.  For borrowing associated with a 
specific asset, the actual rate on that borrowing is used.  Otherwise, a weighted average cost of borrowings is used.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial liabilities are classified as held 
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded 
derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or 
losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

A financial asset or liability is generally derecognised when the contract that gives rise to it is settled, sold, cancelled or 
expires.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition 
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts 
together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in profit or loss.  

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Available-for-sale investments

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of any 
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit 
and loss, is transferred from equity to the profit and loss account.  Reversals in respect of equity instruments classified 
as available-for-sale are not recognised in profit.   Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed 
through profit and loss; if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment loss was recognised in profit and loss.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge its 
risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate fluctuations respectively.  Such derivative financial instruments 
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value.  Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair 
value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from the changes in fair value on derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are 
taken directly to net profit and loss for the year.  There are no derivatives designated in a hedge.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts 
with similar maturity profiles.

The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, which is the Company’s functional currency and the 
Group’s presentation currency.  Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in 
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.  Transactions in foreign currencies 
are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance 
sheet date.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling at the balance 
sheet date. Income and expenses are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the year.  The resulting 
exchange differences are taken directly to a separate component of equity.  On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred 
cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the income 
statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions.  Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction from the share premium account.
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Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in 
the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when it is reasonable to expect that the grants will be received and that all related 
conditions will be met, usually on submission of a valid claim for payment. Government grants in respect of capital 
expenditure are credited to a deferred income account and are released as income by equal annual amounts over the 
expected useful lives of the relevant assets. Grants of a revenue nature are credited to income so as to match them 
with the expenditure to which they relate.

4. Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group finances its activities with a combination of short term and long term bank loans, cash and short-term 
deposits.  The group uses cash and short term loans from its bankers to finance the development and construction of 
its property, plant and equipment which is predominantly wind farms in the UK and Canada.  Where needed, the Group 
employs letters of credit backed either by the group’s cash balance or short term loan arrangements.  On completion 
and successful commissioning of projects, the group refinances the assets with longer term debt that more suits the 
expected useful life of the asset.

The board actively monitor the cash and debt position of the group, and allocates funds to each of its cash generating 
units based on capital requirements, cash commitments and the most appropriate source of funding for each project.

Other financial assets and liabilities, such as trade debtors and trade creditors, arise directly from the Group’s operating 
activities.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including principally interest rate swaps and forward currency 
contracts. The purpose is to manage the interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its 
sources of finance. It is and has been throughout 2008 and 2007 the Group’s policy that no trading in derivatives shall 
be undertaken.

Financial instruments give rise to foreign currency, interest rate, credit, and liquidity risk.

Information on how these risks arise is set out below, as are the objectives, policies and processes agreed by the board 
for their management and the methods used to measure each risk. Derivative instruments are used to change the 
economic characteristics of financial instruments in accordance with the Group’s policies.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has invested in operations outside the United Kingdom and also buys and sells goods and services 
denominated in currencies other than sterling. As a result the value of Group’s non-sterling revenues, purchases, 
financial assets and liabilities and cash flows can be affected significantly by movements in exchange rates in general 
and in Canadian Dollars in particular.

The Group seeks to mitigate the effect of its structural currency exposures by borrowing in the same functional currency 
as the foreign operation into which it invests.  

The Group’s transactional currency exposures arise from sales or purchases by an operating unit in currencies other 
than its functional currency.  It is the Group’s policy not to enter into forward contracts for purchases until a firm 
commitment is in place.  Forward currency contracts must be in the same currency as the hedged item and it is the 
Group’s policy to negotiate the terms of the hedge derivatives to match the terms of the hedged item to maximise hedge 
effectiveness.

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is shown (by way of sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
exchange rates) in the foreign currency risk table in note 27.

Interest rate risk

The Group has for the first time, entered into both long term bank loans and a revolving credit facility as it moves to a 
geared business model for financing the construction and future development of its development pipelines.
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The Group aims to mitigate the interest rate risk of these borrowings by ensuring facilities are contracted under flexible 
terms that are advantageous to the Group’s ongoing management of its borrowing facilities.

The Group’s policy is to manage its cost of borrowing using a mix of fixed and variable rate debt.  Whilst fixed rate 
interest bearing debt is not exposed to cash flow interest rate risk, there is no opportunity for the Group to enjoy a 
reduction in borrowing costs in markets where rates are falling.  In addition, the fair value risk inherent in fixed rate 
borrowing means that the Group is exposed to unplanned costs should debt be restructured or repaid early as part of 
the liquidity management process. In contrast, whilst floating rate borrowings are not exposed to changes in fair value, 
the Group is exposed to cash flow risk as costs increase if market rates rise.

With regard to finance revenue, the Group had significant cash balances throughout the year and as at 30 June 2008.  
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is shown (by way of sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in rates) in the 
interest rate risk table in note 27.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, who are generally blue chip energy corporates.  
UK electricity generation is predominately sold under short term power purchase agreements to a single customer.  
Renewable Obligation Certificates are sold on the open market with little or no credit risk involved in the transactions.  
Canadian electricity generation is sold to Government backed provincial power authorities under power purchase 
agreements of 20 years.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to mitigate liquidity risk by managing cash generation and investment by its operations.  Cash forecasts 
identify the liquidity requirements of the business over a 36 month period and are regularly reviewed by management 
to ensure sufficient headroom exists.  In its funding strategy, the Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between 
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of credit facilities and bank loans.

On the successful completion of the Canadian wind farms the Group refinanced the projects to release cash for 
recycling into new projects and thus improving the Group’s liquidity.  The release was a 2 stage exercise, with 
Cdn$33.2m being released during the year, and a further Cdn$41.8m released after the year end.

Excess cash used in managing liquidity is only invested in financial instruments exposed to insignificant risk of changes 
in market value, being placed on interest-bearing deposit. Short term flexibility is achieved by a revolving credit facility.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at the year end is set out in note 27.

The group’s immediate cash flow needs are supported by cash balances on hand along with the provision of a corporate 
revolving credit facility of £30million as detailed in note 26 to the accounts.  The existing facility is due for renewal 
on 30 December 2008.  The Group has successfully renegotiated a revised facility with its bankers for an 18 month 
period from 31 December 2008 for an amount of £20million which bears interest at LIBOR +3.5%, 3.75% and 4.0% 
respectively for each of the sixth month periods of the loan.

The Board have reviewed the Group’s forecasts and budgets over the next 18 months and are satisfied that the current 
cash balances in combination with the revised facility provide adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future.

The Board continues to evaluate further financing opportunities that will facilitate the continued build out of the Group’s 
UK and Canadian development portfolios over and above that allowed by the renewed corporate facility.
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5. Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The key estimates and assumptions at the balance sheet date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

a) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy 
stated.  The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations.  
These calculations require the use of estimates such as expected future cash flows from the cash generating units and 
choosing an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the net present value of these cash flows (see note 17).

b) Share-based payments

The estimation of share-based payment costs requires the selection of a suitable and appropriate valuation model and 
consideration as to the inputs necessary for the model.  Details of the assumptions used in the binominal model for 
calculating the fair value of options and warrants are given in note 33.

c) Business combinations

The measurement of intangible assets on a business combination involves the estimation of future cash flows and the 
selection of a suitable discount rate.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements Annual Report and Accounts

40

6. Segment information
a) Primary reporting format – business segments

At 30 June 2008, the Directors consider that the Group’s primary business segment is that of energy generation.  
Following the disposal of the Tymien Wind Project and the purchase of the Group’s management company, REG Power 
Management Limited, the Directors consider that the segment of Financial Investment Management is a discontinued 
activity.

Continuing operations
Discontinued 

operation

Year ended 30 June 2008 Energy Generation
Acquisitions Energy 

Generation Total
Financial investment 

management Total

£ £ £ £ £

Segment revenue  
- external sales 3,559,479 4,179 3,563,658 -

Segment result (3,918,202) (190,460) (4,108,662) (507,959)

Share of loss of associate - (48,035) (48,035) -

Group operating loss (4,156,697) (507,959)

Net finance revenue 204,883 -

Loss before taxation (3,951,814) (507,959)

Tax expense 374,579 -

Loss for the year (3,577,235) (507,959)

Energy generation income is broken down as follows:

Electricity sales 1,595,897 4,179 1,600,076

ROC sales 1,747,557 - 1,747,557

LEC sales 135,435 - 135,435

TRIAD sales 80,590 - 80,590

3,559,479 4,179 3,563,658

As at 30 June 2008

Assets and liabilities:

Segment assets 129,115,506 2,349,368 131,464,774 - 131,464,774

Segment liabilities (6,149,189) (94,497) (6,243,686) - (6,243,686)

Unallocated liabilities (32,612,676) - (32,612,676)

Total liabilities (38,856,362) - (38,856,362)

Other segmental information:

Capital expenditure:

  Intangibles - 1,803,546 1,803,546 - 1,803,546

  Property, plant and 
  equipment 48,471,646 366,384 48,838,030 - 48,838,030

  Depreciation 1,038,594 10,005 1,048,599 - 1,048,599

  Amortisation 42,839 - 42,839 - 42,839

  Share based payments 448,224 - 448,224 - 448,224
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Continuing operations Discontinued operations

Year ended 30 June 2007 Energy Generation
Financial investment 

management Total

£ £ £

Segment revenue – external sales 1,443,003 -

Segment result (2,202,694) (1,146,511)
Group operating loss (2,202,694) (1,146,511)
Net finance costs 562,744 1,066,485
Loss before taxation (1,639,950) (80,026)
Tax expense 394,828 (600)
Loss for the year (1,245,122) (80,626)

Energy generation income is broken down as follows:

Electricity sales 665,510

ROC sales 701,698

LEC sales 53,539

TRIAD sales 22,256
1,443,003

As at 30 June 2007

Assets and liabilities:

Segment assets 78,650,773 28,506,105 107,156,878

Segment liabilities (1,872,827) (581,383) (2,543,210)
Unallocated liabilities (6,774,483) - (6,774,483)
Total liabilities (8,646,310) (581,383) (9,317,693)

Other segmental information:

Capital expenditure:
  Intangibles 20,616,604 - 20,616,604
  Property, plant and equipment 28,719,243 - 28,719,243
Depreciation 477,502 - 477,502
Amortisation 10,527 - 10,527
Impairment losses recognised in income statement 278,853 - 278,853

Share based payments - 355,280 355,280

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, receivables and operating cash.  
Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including additions 
resulting from acquisitions through business combinations.

All revenue in the current year derives from one revenue stream being energy generation.  In the prior year income was 
derived from energy generation and financial investment management.
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b) Secondary reporting format – geographical segments

The Company is domiciled in Guernsey.  The following table represents revenue, expenditure and certain asset 
information regarding the Group’s geographical segments:

UK Canada Poland Total Group

£ £ £ £

Year ended 30 June 2008

Revenue from continuing operations 3,543,520 20,138 - 3,563,658

Other segmental information:

Segment assets 38,215,161 93,249,613 - 131,464,774

Capital expenditure on:

  Property, plant and equipment 8,195,191 40,642,839 - 48,838,030

Year ended 30 June 2007

Revenue from continuing operations 1,443,003 - - 1,443,003

Other segmental information:

Segment assets 43,307,541 55,293,656 8,555,681 107,156,878

Capital expenditure on:

  Tangible fixed assets 10,385,846 18,161,936 - 28,547,782

  Intangible fixed assets - 20,616,604 - 20,616,604

7. Discontinued operations
On 16 October 2007 the board announced that the group had sold its position in the Tymien Wind Project in Poland for a 
cash consideration of £10 million, giving rise to a profit of £1.4 million.  On 4 December 2007 the board announced that 
the group had purchased its fund management company and cancelled the management contract at a cost of  
£1.6 million.  There were no other assets or liabilities disposed of with the management contract.

Following the disposal of the Tymien Wind Project and the purchase of the Group’s management company, the Directors 
consider that the segment of Financial Investment Management is a discontinued activity.  The results of the financial 
investment management segment for 2007 and 2008 are presented below:

Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Expenses (1,952,278) (1,972,834)

Other income - 826,323

Operating loss (1,952,278) (1,146,511)

Finance revenue - 1,066,485

Loss before tax from discontinued operation (1,952,278) (80,026)

Profit on disposal of discontinued operation 1,444,319 -

Tax expense - (600)

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (507,959) (80,626)
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The major classes of assets and liabilities of the financial investment management segment were as follows:

Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Cash and cash equivalents - 28,506,105

Trade and other payables - (581,383)

- 27,924,722

The net cash flows attributable to the financial investment management segment are as follows:

Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Operating cash flows (507,959) (1,146,511)

Investing cash flows 10,000,000 (3,715,424)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 9,492,041 (4,861,925)

Loss per share from discontinued operations

Basic and diluted LPS from discontinued operations (Note 15) (0.5p) (0.1p)

8. Other operating income
Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Continuing operations

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 35,041 -

Consultancy and other fees 76,370 45,451

Government grants - 9,736

111,411 55,187
Discontinued operations

Realised gain on sale of investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,444,319 -

Distribution from investments at fair value through profit or loss - 699,587

Unrealised gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss - 197,428

1,444,319 897,015

Realised losses on available for sale investments - (70,692)

1,444,319 826,323

9. Finance revenue
Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Bond interest on available for sale investments - 16,052

Bank interest receivable 892,696 546,692

Total interest income for financial assets not at fair value through 
profit or loss 892,696 562,744
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10. Finance expense
Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Bank loans (90,280) -

Total interest expense for financial assets not at fair value 
through profit or loss (90,280) -

Unrealised loss on interest rate swap (597,533) -

Total finance expense (687,813) -

11. Loss on continuing operations before taxation

Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

Loss on continuing operations before taxation is stated after charging: £ £

Amortisation of intangibles (42,839) (10,527)
Depreciation – owned assets (1,048,599) (477,502)
Auditors’ remuneration – audit of the accounts (84,000) (70,000)
 – taxation services (41,000) (24,000)
Operating lease rentals – minimum lease payments (122,391) (34,108)
Impairment of development costs - (182,463)

12. Staff costs and directors’ emoluments
Year ended Year ended

30 June 2008 30 June 2007

£ £

Staff costs

Wages and salaries 1,084,395 463,298

Social security costs 82,957 26,144

Other staff costs 30,195 -

Share based payments 448,224 355,280

1,645,771 844,722
Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments 377,598 153,047

The average monthly number of employees during the year was made up as follows:

Directors 6 6

Administration and finance 22 1

28 7

Full details of Directors’ emoluments and share options are given within the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 

20 to 21.
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13. Taxation
a) Tax on loss on ordinary activities

Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

The tax credit is made up as follows: £ £

Current income tax 238,017 600

Amounts overprovided in previous years - (154,251)

238,017 (153,651)

Deferred taxation (note 28)

  Origination and reversal of temporary differences (567,663) (240,577)

  Impact of changes in deferred tax rates (44,933) -

Taxation credit in the income statement (374,579) (394,228)

b) Reconciliation of total tax credit

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise under the weighted average 
tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

£ £

Loss from continuing operation before taxation (3,951,814) (1,639,950)

Loss from discontinued operations before taxation (507,959) (80,026)

Accounting loss before taxation (4,459,773) (1,719,976)

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits 
of the respective countries (927,946) (493,388)

Effects of:  

- Losses carried forward 98,250 -

- Notional Guernsey tax charge 600 600

- Canadian capital taxes 237,417 -

- Reduction in deferred taxes resulting from reduction in 
tax rates (44,933) -

- Prior year adjustment - (154,251)

- Non-deductible expenses 262,033 252,811

Total tax credit (374,579) (394,228)

c) Unrecognised tax losses

The Group has tax losses which arose in the UK of £333,050 (2007 - £nil) that are available indefinitely for offset 
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.  Deferred tax assets have not been 
recognised in respect of these losses as they may not be used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the Group and have 
arisen in subsidiaries that cannot currently utilise them.
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14. Dividends per share
Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

Declared and paid during the period equity dividends on ordinary shares £ £

Final paid for 2007 of 3p (2006 – 3p) per ordinary share 3,093,030 1,759,372

Interim Dividend for 2008 paid of 1p (2007 – 1p) per 
ordinary share 1,031,010 1,031,031

4,124,040 2,790,403

A dividend of 3p per ordinary share, amounting to a second interim dividend of £3,093,030 was proposed by the 
directors at their meeting on 22 September 2008.  The proposed dividend has not been recognised as a liability as at 
30 June 2008.

15. Loss per share (LPS)
The calculations of loss per share are based on the following loss and numbers of shares.

Basic and diluted Basic and diluted

Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

£ £

Losses for the financial year

Loss for the year from continuing operations (3,577,235) (1,245,122)

Loss for the year from discontinued operations (507,959) (80,626)

Loss for the financial year (4,085,194) (1,325,748)

2008 2007

Number of shares Number of shares

Weighted average number of shares:

For basic and diluted loss per share 103,101,014 83,087,936

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume 
conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  The Company has two categories of dilutive potential ordinary 
shares: warrants and options

The loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
calculating the diluted loss per share are identical to those used for basic earning per ordinary share.  This is because 
the exercise of share options and warrants would have the effect of reducing the loss per ordinary share and is therefore 
not dilutive.

Discontinued operations

Loss per share for the discontinued operations is derived from the net loss attributable to equity holders of the parent 
from discontinued operations of £507,959 (2007: loss of £80,626), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares for both basic and diluted amounts as per the table above.  (see note 7)
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16. Intangible assets
Development costs Other intangibles Goodwill Total

£ £ £ £

At 1 July 2006

Cost 4,156,424 - 3,009,914 7,166,338

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment - - - -

Net book amount 4,156,424 - 3,009,914 7,166,338

Opening net book amounts at  
1 July 2006 4,156,424 - 3,009,914 7,166,338

Acquisition of subsidiary - 20,616,604 - 20,616,604

Exchange differences - 87,196 - 87,196

Impairment charge (182,463) - - (182,463)

Amortisation charge (10,527) - - (10,527)

Closing net book amount at  
30 June 2007 3,963,434 20,703,800 3,009,914 27,677,148
At 30 June 2007

Cost 4,156,424 20,703,800 3,009,914 27,870,138

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (192,990) - - (192,990)

Net book amount 3,963,434 20,703,800 3,009,914 27,677,148

Opening net book amounts at  
1 July 2007 3,963,434 20,703,800 3,009,914 27,677,148

Acquisition of subsidiary - - 1,803,546 1,803,546

Exchange differences - 184,376 - 184,376

Amortisation charge (42,839) - - (42,839)

Closing net book amount at  
30 June 2008 3,920,595 20,888,176 4,813,460 29,622,231
At 30 June 2008

Cost 4,156,424 20,888,176 4,813,460 29,858,060

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment (235,829) - - (235,829)

Net book amount 3,920,595 20,888,176 4,813,460 29,622,231

Development costs include the acquired cost of £4,156,424 for 24 wind projects in the UK.  This cost is amortised 
over the period of expected future sales from the related project which would normally be expected to be 20 years.  
Amortisation is charged to cost of sales.

The impairment loss of £182,463 last year represented the write off of the development costs acquired on one of the 
projects, Penpell, which had been refused planning permission following an appeal process on the grounds of visual 
impact to the surrounding area.  This was included in cost of sales in last year’s income statement.

The carrying value of assets not yet available for use was tested for impairment as at 30 June 2008 (see note 17).  
Goodwill is subject to annual impairment testing (see note 17).

Other intangibles includes the cost of £20,888,176 (2007 - £20,616,604) which represents the fair value of the MW of 
potential projects acquired on the acquisition of AIM Powergen Inc.  This cost is amortised over the period of expected 
future sales from the related project which would normally be expected to be 20 years.  No amortisation has been 
charged in the year (2007 - £nil) as the projects became operational on or after the year end.
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17. Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use
Goodwill acquired through business combinations, development costs and other intangibles not yet available for use 
have been allocated for impairment testing purposes to three cash-generating units as follows:

UK based wind farms operated through The Cornwall Light & Power Co. Limited,•	
Canadian based wind farms operated through AIM Powergen Inc., and•	
UK based Vegetable oil to power generation through the REG Bio-Power UK Limited sub group that comprises, Living •	
Power Limited and Living Fuels Limited. 

These represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Carrying amount of goodwill and development costs of other intangibles not yet available for use allocated to cash-
generating units

UK wind farms Canadian wind farms Vegetable oil to power Total

2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Development 
costs 3,920,595 3,963,434 - - - - 3,920,595 3,963,434

Other 
intangibles - - 20,888,176 20,703,800 - - 20,888,176 20,703,800

Goodwill 3,009,914 3,009,914 - - 1,803,546 - 4,813,460 3,009,914

6,930,509 6,973,348 20,888,176 20,703,800 1,803,546 - 29,622,231 27,677,148

Key assumptions used in value in use calculations

UK Wind Farms

The recoverable amount of the UK wind farms unit has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a 25 year period, being a 5 year timeframe to develop and build 
the projects in addition to the expected 20 year operational lives of the wind turbines.  No terminal values have been 
applied at the end of the 20 year operations cycle.

All UK projects are assumed to be contracted on short term Power Purchase Agreements with prices based on 
independent pricing forecasts for the UK power market.  ROC prices are estimated using current market information 
to evaluate the likely ROC recycle price on top of the ROC buyout prices.  All operational and maintenance costs in the 
projects are fully index linked.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 15% (2007 - 15%) and cash flows are extrapolated using a 2.5% 
rate of inflation (2007: 2.5%).

The calculation of value in use for UK wind farms is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rates – discount rates reflect the high hurdle rate that the Board places on its investment appraisals to ensure 
optimum allocation of the Group’s resources.

Electricity price – the electricity price is based on current market data, or current contracted power purchase 
agreements where applicable.

Wind resource – estimates are made from various independent sources, along with site data where applicable to 
estimate the level of wind resource at each project.

Capital costs – turbines and balance of plant costs are based on historic data assimilated by the Group and known 
industry averages.  These costs are themselves dependent on variables such as commodity prices and exchange rates.

Right and ability to construct – the UK wind farm portfolio is subject to successful planning permission.  The Board 
reviews the portfolio on a regular basis to ensure that projects will meet the various requirements to succeed through 
the UK planning process.  The Board also monitor the sites to ensure they are viable to build in terms of a firm grid 
connection and ensuring they meet the various environmental standards expected of them.
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Canadian Wind Farms

The recoverable amount of the Canadian wind farms has been determined based on a value in use calculation using 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering a 30 year period, being a 10 year timeframe due to the 
relative size of the portfolio to develop and build the projects due to the relative size of the portfolio, in addition to 
the expected 20 year operational lives of the wind turbines.  Land leases on Canadian sites are generally for 40 
years however no terminal values have been applied at the end of the 20 year operations cycle.  The Canadian model 
assumes a level of gearing in each project of 75%, with long term project financing interest rates above those already 
contracted by the group (see note 26).  Debt terms are assumed to be 20 years, matching the life cycle of both the 
generating plant and the power purchase agreements.

All Canadian projects are assumed to be locked in to 20 year power purchase agreements which are only partially index 
linked as is the generally accepted principle in the Canadian power markets.  All operational and maintenance costs in 
the projects are fully index linked.

The discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 15% (2007 - 15%) and cash flows are extrapolated using a 2.5% 
rate of inflation (2007: 2.5%).

The calculation of value in use for Canadian wind farms is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rates – discount rates reflect the high hurdle rate that the Board places on its investment appraisals to ensure 
optimum allocation of the Group’s resources.

Electricity price – the electricity price is based on current market data, or current contracted power purchase 
agreements where applicable.

Wind resource – estimates are made from various independent sources, along with site data where applicable to 
estimate the level of wind resource at each project.

Capital costs – turbines and balance of plant costs are based on historic data assimilated by the Group and known 
industry averages.  These costs are themselves dependent on variables such as commodity prices and exchange rates.

Debt markets and rates – the Canadian value in use model assumes a proportion of gearing placed in to each wind farm 
on commercial debt rates in a normal liquid credit market.

Right and ability to construct – The Board reviews the portfolio on a regular basis to ensure that projects will meet the 
various requirements to succeed through the Canadian planning process.  The Board also monitor the sites to ensure 
they are viable to build in terms of a firm grid connection and ensuring they meet the various environmental standards 
expected of them.

Vegetable oil to power generation

The recoverable amount of the Vegetable oil to power generation is also determined on a value in use basis using cash 
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a 10 year period being the assumed life cycle of the generating 
equipment. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is 15% and cash flows are extrapolated using a 2.5% 
rate of inflation.

Future project capital costs estimates are based on capital costs already incurred by the Group.  Growth rates for the 
business are assumed to be high in this new market in the first 2 years.

All projects are assumed to be contracted on short term Power Purchase Agreements with prices based on independent 
pricing forecasts for the UK power market.  ROC prices are estimated using current market information to evaluate the 
likely ROC recycle price on top of the ROC buyout prices.  For prudence, all projects are assumed to earn 1.5 ROCS per 
MWh generated from 1 April 2008.  Fuel costs are based on a mix of vegetable oils from varying sources that cover 
those traded on the open market to smaller distribution channels.  All operational and maintenance costs in the projects 
are fully index linked.

The calculation of value in use for the Vegetable oil to power generation is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Discount rates – discount rates reflect the high hurdle rate that the Board places on its investment appraisals to ensure 
optimum allocation of the Group’s resources.
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Electricity price – the electricity price is based on current market data, or current contracted power purchase 
agreements where applicable.

Fuel prices – prices are based on known open market prices and estimates, along with known negotiated prices for 
certain fuels.

Capital costs – generation plant costs are based on historic data assimilated by the Group.

Growth rate estimates – are based on the Board’s estimation of the size of the market and its plan to gain a substantial 
share with the Group’s  first mover advantage.

Discount rates reflect management’s estimate of return on capital employed (ROCE) required in each business. This 
is the benchmark used by management to assess operating performance and to evaluate future capital investment 
proposals.

Sensitivity in changes in assumptions

With regards to the assessment of value in use of the UK and Canadian Wind farms, management believes that no 
reasonably possible changes in any of the above key assumptions would cause the carrying value of the units to 
materially exceed their recoverable amounts.

For the vegetable oil to power unit, management has considered the following sensitivities of note:

Fuel prices – management has considered the possibility of greater than budgeted increases in raw material costs for 
the vegetable oil to power generation unit.  The value in use calculation considers a fuel mix biased towards the higher 
cost fuels the unit can use.  Management is confident that the mix of fuels available could be reweighted away from 
higher priced fuels to offset their impact on the value in use model.  

Power prices – substantial changes in power prices in the UK have a marked effect on the value in use calculation with 
all other assumptions remaining constant.  Management are confident that marked changes in power prices would 
be offset by an according change in the price of fuels and the ability to reweight the mix of fuels employed, and so as 
such are confident that the margin between power prices and fuel costs can be managed such that the value in use 
calculation is not impacted by reasonably possible changes.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial StatementsFor the year ended 30 June 2008

51

18. Property, plant and equipment

Operating wind 
sites

Assets in 
the course of 
construction Freehold land

Fixtures, fittings 
and equipment Total

£ £ £ £ £

At 1 July 2006

Cost 6,515,750 1,562,584 - 5,401 8,083,735

Accumulated depreciation (4,471,995) - - (4,622) (4,476,617)

Net book amount 2,043,755 1,562,584 - 779 3,607,118

Opening net book amounts at  
1 July 2006 2,043,755 1,562,584 - 779 3,607,118

Acquisition of subsidiary - - - 171,461 171,461

Additions 8,914,004 18,285,280 925,500 422,998 28,547,782

Movements 1,461,454 (1,461,454) - - -

Impairment charge - (96,390) - - (96,390)

Depreciation charge (437,809) - - (39,693) (477,502)

Closing net book amount at  
30 June 2007 11,981,404 18,290,020 925,500 555,545 31,752,469
At 30 June 2007

Cost 16,891,208 18,290,020 925,500 599,860 36,706,588

Accumulated depreciation (4,909,804) - - (44,315) (4,954,119)

Net book amount 11,981,404 18,290,020 925,500 555,545 31,752,469

Opening net book amounts at  
1 July 2007 11,981,404 18,290,020 925,500 555,545 31,752,469

Acquisition of Subsiduary - - - 81,898 81,898

Additions 563,465 47,811,213 - 381,454 48,756,132

Movements 59,305,230 (59,305,230) - - -

Exchange differences 107,616 976,455 - 32,496 1,116,567

Depreciation charge (854,261) - - (194,338) (1,048,599)

Closing net book amount at  
30 June 2008 71,103,454 7,772,459 925,500 857,055 80,658,466
At 30 June 2008

Cost 76,867,519 7,772,459 925,500 1,095,708 86,661,184

Accumulated depreciation (5,764,065) - - (238,653) (6,002,718)

Net book amount 71,103,454 7,772,459 925,500 857,055 80,658,466

During the year an amount of £747,809 (2007: £nil) of borrowing costs were capitalised into property, plant and 
equipment.

19. Investments at fair value through profit or loss
£

At 1 July 2006 8,358,253

Fair value gain 197,428

At 30 June 2007 8,555,681

At 1 July 2007 8,555,681

Disposal (8,555,681)

At 30 June 2008 -

On 24 August 2005 the Group entered into a 50% joint venture with Invenergy Wind LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
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company.  The investment in the wind farm at Tymien, Poland has been made via Invenergy Wind Europe LLC.  As an 
investment company, building up a portfolio of renewable energy projects, the company has taken the exemption in 
IAS 31 and has elected to treat the interest in the joint venture as an investment at fair value through profit or loss 
(designated as such upon initial recognition) and has therefore not proportionally consolidated the financial information 
of Invenergy Wind Europe LLC in these consolidated financial statements.

The investment in Tymien was revalued to its fair value, being the recoverable amount, determined based on value in 
use calculations.  These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management 
covering a 20 year period.

As highlighted in note 7, on 16 October 2007 the board announced that the Group had sold its position in the Tymien 
Wind Project in Poland for a cash consideration of £10 million, giving rise to a profit of £1.4 million. 

20. Business combinations
Business combination year ended 30 June 2008

Living Power Limited

On 26 September 2007, the Group acquired 80% of the share capital of Living Power Limited; a UK based renewable 
energy company for a cash consideration if £1,040,000.

On 2 June 2008, the group acquired a further 20% of the share capital of Living Power Limited in exchange for a 
2% share holding in REG Bio Power UK Limited, the immediate parent of Living Power Limited.  There was no cash 
consideration.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: £

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 1,040,000

Direct costs relating to the acquisition 32,508

Total purchase consideration 1,072,508

Fair value of net liabilities acquired 66,050

Goodwill 1,138,558

The goodwill is attributable to the expertise of the development team at Living Power.

Fair value Acquiree’s carrying amount

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows: £ £

Net cash (6,597) (6,597)

Receivables 25,612 25,612

Payables (85,065) (85,065)

Net liabilities acquired (66,050) (66,050)

Purchase consideration settled in cash 1,072,508

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired 6,597

Cash outflow on acquisition 1,079,105
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Living Fuels Limited

On 26 September 2007, the Group acquired 20% of the share capital of Living Fuels Limited; a UK based processor of 
used cooking oil.  The acquisition was treated as an investment in an associate.

On 2 June 2008, the group acquired a further 80% of the share capital of Living Fuels Limited in exchange for an 
8% share holding in REG Bio Power UK Limited, the immediate parent of Living Fuels Limited.  There was no cash 
consideration.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: £

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 260,000

Direct costs relating to the acquisition 42,945

Total purchase consideration at 26 September 2007 302,945

Total purchase consideration at 2 June 2008 -

Fair value of net liabilities acquired 362,043

Goodwill 664,988

The goodwill is attributable to the expertise of the development team at Living Fuels.

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows: Fair value Acquiree’s carrying amount

£ £

Property, plant and equipment 81,898 81,898

Net cash (45,822) (45,822)

Receivables 142,984 142,984

Payables (589,138) (589,138)

Net liabilities (410,078) (410,078)

Proportion of net liabilities recognised as share of 
associate losses 48,035 48,035

Net liabilities acquired (362,043) (362,043)

Purchase consideration settled in cash 302,945

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired 45,822

Cash outflow on acquisition 348,767

The acquired businesses contributed revenues of £3,858 and a net loss of £204,113 to the Group for the period from 3 
June 2008 to 30 June 2008.  If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the consolidated loss for 
the Group would have been £4,489,000 and revenue from continuing operations would have been £3,679,088.
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Business combination in the year ended 30 June 2007

AIM PowerGen Corp.

On 3 August 2006, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of AIM PowerGen Corp. a Canadian wind developer.  
The acquired business contributed revenues of £0 and a net loss of £1,441,704 to the Group for the period from 4 
August 2006 to 30 June 2007.  If the combination had taken place at the beginning of the year, the consolidated loss 
for the Group would have been £1,940,452 and revenue from continuing operations would have been £1,443,003.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: £

Purchase consideration

Cash paid 9,395,507

Shares issued at fair value (3,645,721 shares at £1.25) 4,557,151

Direct costs relating to the acquisition 295,092

Total purchase consideration 14,247,750

Fair value of net assets acquired (14,247,750)

Goodwill -

The fair value of shares issued was the closing share price on 4 August 2006.

The goodwill is attributable to the pipeline of Canadian wind projects and the expertise of the development team.

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are as follows: Fair value Acquiree’s carrying amount

£ £

Cash and cash equivalents 133,362 133,362

Property, plant and equipment 171,461 171,461

Receivables 22,838 22,838

Payables (252,158) (252,158)

Deferred tax liabilities (6,444,357) -

Intangible assets 20,616,604 -

Net liabilities acquired 14,247,750 75,503

Purchase consideration settled in cash 9,690,599

Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (133,362)

Cash outflow on acquisition 9,557,237

21. Inventories
2008 2007

£ £

Inventories – fuel 116,217 -
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22. Trade and other receivables
2008 2007

£ £

Trade receivables 116,185 41,460

Social security and other taxes 167,140 444,774

Other debtors 3,183,996 16,949,395

Prepayments and accrued income 830,332 224,664

4,297,653 17,660,293

Accrued income of £213,368 ( 2007 - £63,910) represents LEC, TRIADs and generation not yet billed.

Other debtors includes £3,078,555 (2007 - £16,913,815) used as cash collateral supporting payment guarantees for 
balance of plant contracts and turbine manufacturers.  This cash collateral is interest bearing under normal banking 
terms.  Trade debtors and other receivables are non-interest bearing.

As at 30 June 2008 there were no trade receivables (2007 - £nil) that were impaired or fully provided for.  As at 30 June 
the ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:-

Total
Neither past due nor 

impaired Past due but not impaired

30-60 days 60-90 days 90-120 days >120days

£ £ £ £ £ £

2008 116,185 86,990 - - - 29,195

2007 41,460 41,460 - - - -

23. Current intangibles
2008 2007

£ £

Renewable obligation certificates 316,982 760,053

The carrying amount of ROCs generated in the current financial year is re-valued to the current fair value as at the 
balance sheet date.  ROCs that existed at the previous year end are revalued as at the balance sheet date with the 
corresponding gain/loss recognised in equity.  The ROCs that existed at the previous year end were all sold in the 
current year and hence there is no revaluation in 2008.

24. Cash and cash equivalents
2008 2007

£ £

Cash at bank and in hand 16,453,225 11,312,595

Short-term deposits - 9,438,639

16,453,225 20,751,234

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Short-term deposits are made for 
varying periods of up to one month depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest 
at the respective short-term deposit rates.  The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is £16,453,225 (2007 -  
£20,751,234).
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25. Trade and other payables
2008 2007

£ £

Trade payables 4,496,221 1,156,397

Social security and other taxes 21,852 17,962

Other creditors 16,322 35,142

Accruals 1,709,291 1,333,979

6,243,686 2,543,210

26. Financial liabilities
2008 2007

£ £

Current 

Bank loans and overdrafts 9,848,449 -

Interest rate swap 50,971 -

9,899,420 -

Non-current

Bank loans 16,368,919 -

Interest rate swap 546,562 -

16,915,481 -

Bank loans comprise the following:

£5,000,000 variable rate loan 2008 5,000,000 -

Cdn$9,000,000 variable rate loan 2008 4,457,211 -

Cdn$33,842,110 variable rate loan 2023 16,760,157 -

26,217,368 -

Less current instalments due on bank loans 9,848,449 -

16,368,919 -

£5,000,000 variable rate loan 2008 and Cdn$9,000,000 variable rate loan 2008

These loans have been drawn down under a credit facility which is due for renewal on 30 December 2008 and bears 
interest at LIBOR +1.75%.  The one year revolving credit facility is secured by way of a fixed and floating charge over the 
assets of the Company and certain subsidiary companies.

The facility totals £30,000,000, of which at the year end, £9,457,211 was utilised as loans, £19,300,577 was 
allocated to cover letters of credit issued to suppliers of wind turbines and £1,242,212 was undrawn.

Cdn$33,842,110 variable rate loan 2023 with an interest rate SWAP.

The loan is secured by a charge over AIM Phase I SOP LP, a Canadian subsidiary of the Group that holds 4 operational 
wind farms totalling 39.6MW of capacity.  The loan is repayable on 27 June 2023 with an option to extend the loan by a 
further 5 years to 27 June 2028.  The loan bears interest at Canadian Bankers Acceptance plus a variable rate margin 
between 1.375% and 2.375% depending on the relative performance of the 4 wind farms over the term of the loan.

A 20 year interest rate swap has been purchased to fix the loan’s underlying variable Canadian Bankers Acceptance 
rate which results in a fixed interest charge of 4.593%.  The profile of the swap exactly matches the capital amounts 
outstanding on the loan at any given time. 
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27. Derivatives and other financial instruments
An explanation of the Group’s financial instruments risk management objectives, policies and strategies are set out in 
note 4 to the accounts ‘Financial risk management objectives and policies’.

Interest rate maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities

The following table sets out the carrying amount, by maturity of the Group’s financial instruments that are exposed to 
interest rate risk (including those classified under discontinued operations):

1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years 3-4 years 4-5 years
More than 5 

years Total

30 June 2008 £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Floating rate

Cash 16,453,225 - - - - - 16,453,225

Restricted cash 3,078,555 - - - - - 3,078,555

£5,000,000 loan (5,000,000) - - - - - (5,000,000)

Cdn$9,000,000 
loan (4,457,211) - - - - - (4,457,211)

Cdn$33,842,110 
loan (391,238) (542,938) (568,308) (594,863) (622,659) (14,040,151) (16,760,157)

Fixed rate

Interest rate 
swap (50,971) (64,041) (58,637) (54,118) (49,646) (320,120) (597,533)

30 June 2007

Floating rate

Cash 20,751,234 - - - - - 20,751,234

Restricted cash 16,913,815 - - - - - 16,913,815

All other financial instruments are non-interest bearing.
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Interest rate risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other 
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.  The sensitivity analysis excludes all non-derivative fixed rate 
financial instruments carried at amortised cost but includes those recognised at fair value as well as all non-derivative 
floating rate financial instruments.

Increase/(decrease) in basis 
points Impact on profit before tax

£

2008

£sterling +50 11,753

Canadian dollar +100 331,270

£sterling -50 (11,753)

Canadian dollar -100 (359,892)

Increase/(decrease) in basis 
points Impact on profit before tax

£

2007

£sterling +50 184,298

Canadian dollar +100 8,055

£sterling - 50 (184,298)

Canadian dollar - 100 (8,055)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties, who are generally blue chip energy corporates.  
UK electricity generation is predominately sold under short term power purchase agreements to a single customer.  
Renewable Obligation Certificates are sold on the open market with little or no credit risk involved in the transactions.  
Canadian electricity generation is sold to Government backed provincial power authorities under power purchase 
agreements of 20 years.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash 
equivalents, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amount of these instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the Sterling against the Canadian 
dollar exchange rate with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in monetary 
assets held by operations with a different functional currency).

Increase/(decrease) in sterling vs 
Cdn Dollar rate Effect on profit before tax

% £

2008

Canadian dollar +5% (36,675)

Canadian dollar - 5% 36,675

2007

Canadian dollar +5% -

Canadian dollar - 5% -
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Liquidity risk

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 30 June 2008 based on 
contractual undiscounted payments.

Less than 3 
months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years

More than 5 
years Total

30 June 2008 £ £ £ £ £

Interest bearing loans 9,570,547 1,061,783 7,676,975 19,659,902 37,969,207

Trade and other payables 4,496,221 - - - 4,496,221

Interest rate swap - 52,106 313,893 439,317 805,316

14,066,768 1,113,889 7,990,868 20,099,219 43,270,744

30 June 2007

Trade and other payables 1,156,397 - - - 1,156,397

It has been assumed in the information above that the option to extend the loan will be taken up. 

Capital management

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent.

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder return.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. No 
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years end 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.

During the year the Group enacted its capital management policy of refinancing fully constructed wind farms that, prior 
to operation were financed through a combination of equity and short term debt.  The group secured a loan to 2023 as 
disclosed in note 26 on the AIM SOP Phase I wind farms.

The Group monitors capital management by using detail financial information provided to key management personnel.  
The Group has complied with all externally imposed banking covenants on its loans during the current and preceding 
years.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial 
instruments, including those classified under discontinued operations that are carried in the financial statements.

Book value Fair value

2008 2007 2008 2007

£ £ £ £

Financial assets

Cash 16,453,225 20,751,234 16,453,225 20,751,234

Financial liabilities

Floating rate borrowings (26,217,368) - (25,953,621) -

Derivative financial instruments (597,533) - (597,533) -

The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest 
rates.  The fair value of the derivative financial instruments are estimated by discounting future cash flows using current 
market interest rates and yield curve over the remaining term of the instrument.

Other short term assets and liabilities where fair value approximates to book value are excluded from the table above.
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28. Deferred tax liabilities

2008 2007

£ £

At 1 July 6,774,483 617,922

Acquisition of subsidiary - 6,444,357

Exchange movements (364,112) (47,219)

Income statement charge (567,663) (240,577)

Impact of changes in deferred tax rates (44,933) -

At 30 June 5,797,775 6,774,483

Deferred tax is provided as follows:

2008 2007

£ £

Acquisition fair value adjustments 6,215,412 6,983,279

Accelerated capital allowances 119,269 857,124

Tax losses available (536,906) (1,065,920)

5,797,775 6,774,483

The balance of deferred tax for tax losses carried forward in 2008 and 2007 relates to losses arising in The Cornwall 
Light & Power Co. Limited and AIM Powergen Corp., recoverability of which is dependent on future gains in excess of 
those arising from the reversal of deferred tax liabilities. The Group considers that the business plans for The Cornwall 
Light & Power Co. Limited and AIM PowerGen Corp. businesses are such that profits will be realised in the near term to 
realise the deferred tax losses carried forward.

The deferred tax included in the Group income statement is as follows:

2008 2007

£ £

Accelerated capital allowances (689,127) 515,270

Movement in tax losses 154,729 (686,606)

Impact of changes in deferred tax rates (44,933) -

Fair value adjustment (33,265) (69,241)

(612,596) (240,577)

Temporary differences associated with Group investments

At 30 June 2008, there was no recognised deferred tax liability (2007: £nil) for taxes that would be payable on the 
unremitted earnings of certain of the Group’s subsidiaries, as the Group has determined that undistributed profits of its 
subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable future and the Group is registered in Guernsey.
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29. Share capital
2008 2007

No. of shares No. of shares

Authorised

Ordinary shares of 10p each 103,101,014 103,101,014

Ordinary shares No. of shares £

Issued and fully paid at 1 July 2006 55,000,000 5,500,000

Issued and fully paid at 18 August 2006 3,645,721 364,572

Issued and fully paid at 7 December 2006 41,500,000 4,150,000

Issued and fully paid at 21 December 2006 2,955,293 295,529

At 30 June 2007 and 30 June 2008 103,101,014 10,310,101

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income.

During the year to 30 June 2007, the issued share capital was increased by £364,572 by the creation of 3,645,721 
ordinary shares of 10p each.  The shares were issued as part of the purchase consideration for AIM Powergen Inc. for a 
value of £4,557,151.  The issued share capital was further increased during the year to 30 June 2007 by £4,445,429 
by the creation of 44,455,293 ordinary shares of 10p each.  The total consideration received was £45,788,952.  Issue 
costs of £2,740,564 were offset against the share premium account.

30. Share Premium Account
2008 2007

£ £

At 1 July 79,645,688 36,850,250

Issue of 3,645,721 ordinary shares of 10p each - 4,192,579

Issue of 41,500,000 ordinary shares of 10p each - 38,595,000

Issue of 2,955,293 ordinary shares of 10p each - 2,748,423

Transaction costs from issue - (2,740,564)

At 30 June 79,645,688 79,645,688

31. Special reserve
A resolution to reduce the Share Premium account by £10,000,000 was proposed and passed at an Extraordinary 
General Meeting on 3 April 2006.  The application to reduce the Share Premium account was approved by the Royal 
Court of Guernsey on 21 April 2006.  The £10,000,000 is now treated as a distributable reserve created for the 
purpose of paying the annual dividend.

32. Fair value and other reserves
Fair value adjustments Foreign exchange reserve Total

£ £ £

At 1 July 2006 (66,308) - (66,308)

Fair value adjustment, unrealised loss 
taken to equity (4,384) - (4,384)

Transfer to profit and loss 70,692 - 70,692

Currency translation differences - 1,479,662 1,479,662

At 30 June 2007 - 1,479,662 1,479,662

At 1 July 2007 - 1,479,662 1,479,662

Currency translation differences - 2,530,237 2,530,237

At 30 June 2008 - 4,009,899 4,009,899

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.
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33. Share based payments
2008 2007

Share based payments reserve £ £

At 1 July 546,648 191,368

Charged to the income statement 448,224 355,280

At 30 June 994,872 546,648

The Group operates two equity settled share based payment schemes.  A warrant program that is without market 
conditions attached and a share options scheme under the Employee Share Option Plan.  Options can only be exercised 
if certain Performance Conditions are satisfied (see the Directors’ Remuneration Report).  The Performance Conditions 
are measured once only at the end of the Performance Period, which commences on the date of grant of the Options 
and ends on the third anniversary of that date.

The fair value of the granted warrants and options is reported as an administrative expense with a corresponding 
increase in shareholders’ equity. Fair value is calculated at the grant date and allocated over the period during which the 
benefit is earned. The estimate of the level of vesting is reviewed at least annually, with any impact on the cumulative 
charge being recognised immediately.  The charge is based on the market value of the award as at the date of grant.

2008 2007

Average exercise price 
Outstanding warrants 

and options Average exercise price 
Outstanding warrants 

and options

Outstanding at 1 July 1.000 5,155,051 1.000 2,750,000

Granted 1.140 615,000 1.000 2,405,051

Outstanding at 30 June 1.016 5,770,051 1.000 5,155,051

Exercisable at 30 June 1.000 5,155,051 - -

During the year 615,000 share options were granted to directors and staff under the Group’s Employee Share Option 
Plan, exercisable between 5 December 2010 and 5 December 2017.

The fair value of options granted during the period, determined using the Binomial model, was 18.228p for 615,000 
options.  The significant inputs into the model were share price of 114p at the grant date, exercise price of 114p, 
volatility of 10.8% over a 12 month period, expected option life of 36 months and 5% risk-free rate (10 year gilts).

The fair value of warrants granted during the year to 30 June 2007 was determined using the Binomial model and was 
22.949p for 147,765 warrants, 18.721p for 2,075,000 warrants and 39.741p for 182,286 warrants.  The significant 
inputs into the model were share price of 108.5p, 104.0p and 127.0p at the grant date, exercise price shown above, 
volatility of 10% over a 12 month period, expected option life of 36 months and 4.5% risk-free rate (10 year gilts).

For the share options outstanding as at 30 June 2008, the weighted average remaining contractual life is 2.68 years 
(2007 – 2.88 years).
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34. Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities
2008 2007

£ £

Loss for the year (4,085,194) (1,325,748)

Adjustments for:

  Tax on continuing operations (374,579) (394,828)

  Tax on discontinued operations - 600

  Net finance costs (204,883) (1,629,229)

  Gain on sale of investments (1,444,319) -

  Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment 1,048,599 573,892

  Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets 42,839 192,990

  Share based payments 448,224 355,280

  Unrealised gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss - (197,428)

  Realised loss on available for sale investments - 70,692

  Realised foreign exchange loss on available for sale investments - 113,820

Changes in working capital

  Inventories (116,217) 16,831

  Trade and other receivables 721,232 (584,075)

  Trade and other payables (381,994) 1,830,963

  Income tax (paid)/received (238,017) 56,490

(4,584,309) (921,750)

35. Financial commitments
Capital commitments

There were capital commitments amounting to £42,389,886 at 30 June 2008 (2007 - £36,221,678) relating to the 
purchase of wind turbines.

Operating lease commitments

The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties.  These leases have an average duration of 
between 5 and 25 years.  Some of the property lease agreements contain an option for renewal, with such options 
being exercisable before the expiry of the lease term at rentals based on market prices at the time of exercise. There 
are no restrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. 

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2008 2007

£ £

Not later than one year - -

After one year but not more than five years 157,500 -

After 5 years 320,004 355,560

477,504 355,560

36. Contingent liabilities
The Group has entered into a business combination that involves deferred consideration being paid; the value and 
subsequent payment of which are contingent on certain conditions being met.  A deferred payment of £500,000 will be 
due in the event that the Goonhilly Downs site is re-powered and the re-powering of the site results in turbines being 
constructed with an aggregate output of more than 6MW.  As at 30 June 2008 planning permission has been received 
to re-power the site and it is management’s intention is to pursue this option but no agreements have been formally 
entered into.  As at 30 June 2008 the Group has not recognised a provision in relation to this transaction.
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37. Related party transactions
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Renewable Energy Generation Limited and the 
subsidiaries listed in the following table:

Name of Company Holding
Country of 

incorporation

Proportion of voting 
rights and shares 

held Nature of Business

REG Holdings Limited Ordinary shares UK 100% Holding company

The Cornwall Light & Power Co. Limited Ordinary shares UK 100%* Wind farms

AIM Powergen Limited Ordinary shares UK 100% Holding company

AIM Powergen Corp. Ordinary shares Canada 100%* Wind farms

AIM Phase I SOP LP Ordinary shares Canada 100%* Wind farms

AIM Phase I SOP GP Ordinary shares Canada 100%* General partner

REG Power Management Limited Ordinary shares UK 100% Dormant

REG Bio-Power UK limited Ordinary shares UK 90%* Vegetable oil to power

Living Power Limited Ordinary shares UK 100%* Vegetable oil to power

Living Fuels Limited Ordinary shares UK 100%* Vegetable oil to power

* Held by a subsidiary undertaking

Renewable Energy Generation Limited is the ultimate parent entity.

The Group has incurred consultancy fees, management fees and expenses with certain related parties as follows:

Amounts charged to the income statement Amounts payable at the year end

2008 2007 2008 2007

£ £ £ £

Pure Energy Professionals Limited * 59,405 118,081 2,321 9,112

nth Power Limited ** 83,959 141,135 - -

Green Peninsula Limited *  ** 135,971 171,305 7,484 26,030

Jersey Trust Company *** 154,487 27,724 28,043 -

*B Woodman, a director in common with the subsidiary companies of the Group. 
**N Harris, a director in common with the subsidiary companies of the Group. 
***N Le Quesne and N Syvret, a director in common with the Renewable Energy Generation Limited

Compensation of key management personnel (including directors):

2008 2007

£ £

Short-term employee benefits 377,598 153,047

Share based payments 55,815 50,739

433,413 203,786

38. Post balance sheet events
During September 2008 the Group successfully connected its Mohawk Point wind farm in Canada which allowed it to 
draw down an additional Cdn$41.2m of cash from its Cdn$75m loan facility secured on the AIM Phase I SOP projects as 
detailed in note 26.

During December 2008, the Group terminated a turbine supply agreement with General Electric Corp as a direct result 
of credit market conditions that arose after the balance sheet date.  As at the year end a cash deposit of £504,308 had 
been placed on the turbine supply agreement which is the subject of ongoing negotiations with General Electric Corp.
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